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Corporate Profile

Acasti is an emerging biopharmaceutical company focused on the research, development and commercialization of
new krill-oil based forms of omega-3 phospholipid therapies for the treatment and prevention of certain
cardiometabelic disorders, in particular abnormalities in blood lipids, referred to as dyslipidemia.

The Company is advarcing its product portfolio, by targeting the prescription drug and medical food markets.
Currently, Acasti has a prescription drug candidate, CaPre®, as well as a sole medical food, Onemia®, that is being
commercialized. Both products are drawn from a highly purified omega-3 phospholipid concentrate derved from
krill oil,

CaPre® is being developed to help prevent and treat cardiometabolic disorders, including hypertriglyceridemia, a
condition which is characterized by abrormally high levels of triglycerides in the bloodstream. Onemia® contains
lower levels of phospholipids, EPA and DHA, content than CaPre® and is intended for the dietary management of
omega-3 phospholipids deficiency related to abnormal lipid profiles and cardiometabalic disorders,

Acasti is a subsidiary of Neptune Technologies and Bioressources (Neptune). It has an exclusive rovalty-prepaid
license from Neptune to research and develop new pharmaceutical ingredients for cardiovascular applications.

Learn More

To learn more about Acasti, visit the Company’s website at acastipharma.com. Here you will find business and
product information along with investor material, including annual reports, quarterly reports and press releases.
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Message to Shareholders

Over the past year, we continued to strengthen our business, and focus our efforts on moving closer to securing
regulatory approval for our investigational new drug candidate, CaPre®. We actively advanced our research and
clinical development program, secured a manufacturing agreement for CaPre® clinical material, successfully
completed a major financing and defended and strengthened owr intellectual property. These successes are a
testimony to our commitment to lay the groundwork for future growth and create sustained shareholder value. Let’s
take a closer look at our achievements.

Advancing our Clinical Trials

‘We made important progress in our research and clinical development program for CaPre®, most importantly our
Phase || clinical trials. The trials, which are being conducted under Health Canada, include an open label (COLT) study
and a double blind (TRIFECTA] trial. Both are designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of CaPre®™ on patients with
hypertriglyceridemia, which is a condition characterized by abnormally high levels of triglycerides in the
bleodstream. Obtaining regulatory approval of CaPre® requires that safety is confirmed and it is shown to be
effective at reducing trighycerides at a level that would medically benefit the patient.

In August 2013, we announced positive COLT trial results, showing CaPre® to be safe and effective in reducing
triglyeeride levels in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. Triglyceride lowering activity was seen at all doses tested,
including a mean trighyceride decrease of 15.4% from baseline at four weeks and a 21.6% reduction at 8 weeks with a
4.0 gram daily dose of CaPre®. The efficacy of CaPre® at all doses in reducing triglycerides and increased effect with
dose escalation suggests that CaPre™ may be titrable, allowing physicians to adjust dosage levels in order to better
manage patients’ medical needs.

In addition to lowering trighycerides, CaPre® also had a positive impact on cholesteral markers, including HDL {good
cholesterol) and non-HDL, and no significant deleterious effect on LDL (bad cholesterol). If this lipid efficacy is
maintained throughout our clinical trials, it could be a key differentiator from omega-3 prescription drugs currently
an the market.

With this considerable achievement, we are moving forward with our ather Phase || study, the TRIFECTA trial. On top
of this, we are implementing our pivotal US strategy to conduct a pharmacokinetic (PK) trial and a Phase |l climical
study of CaPre® in the United States. This is a critical and decisive next step in our drug development program to
secure regulatory approval to distribute and market CaPre® as a prescription drug in the U.S.

In January 2014, we announced that the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) gave clearance to Acasti to initiate
its PK trial, having found no objections with the study design, protocol, or safety profile of CaPre®™. The study will
evaluate blood profiles and bioavailability of CaPre® on 42 healthy volunteers. Quintiles, the world's largest provider
of biopharmaceutical development and commercial outsourcing services, has been engaged to conduct the trial.
Results are expected to be available in the third quarter of calendar 2014,

Concurrently with the PK trial, the Corporation is corresponding with the FDA and has responded to their
recommendations regarding Acasti's upcoming Investigational New Drug (IND) filing for a pivotal phase Il clinical
trial of CaPre® in the US. The FDA has invited Acasti to formally request an end of Phase Il/pre Phase Il meeting to
allow them to provide feedback on the submission and to address specific questions for which Acasti is seeking a
buy-in and final response from the FDA. Acasti intends to do this as soon as TRIFECTA trial results are available.
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Positioning Onemia as a Product of Choice

We continued to position our medical food, Onemia®, as a product of choice in a multimillion-dollar market targeting
the clinical dietary management of cardiometabolic disorders. Although the development of CaPre®™ remains our
principal focus, the angoing success of Onemia® is helping to partially finance our research and development
program, along with administrative and commercialization costs, which collectively represent Acasti's principal
expenditures. Sales of Onemia™ totalled 50.5 million for the year ending February 28, 2014, accounting for all of
Acasti's revenues. A detailed review of our financial results can be fourd in the accompanying Financial Statements
and Management Discussion and Analysis,

To date, Onemia®™ has been very well received by physicians and we have obtained encouraging testimony regarding
its efficacy. In addition, we continue to explore the benefit of combining Onemia® with a statin treatment.
Mon-clinical activities have been undertaken in order to determine whether or not Onemia® should be added to a
statin treatment. The non-clinical data accumulated showed that it would be warthwhile to explore in humans what
was observed in animals, that is Onemia®™ may benefit patients taking statins dealing with complex and hard to
manage lipid profiles.

Securing Our Future

We secured a manufacturing agreement with a world leader in natural based specialty chemicals for the
manufacturing of CaPre® clinical material. Specialized krill oil raw material will first be produced by Neptune or a
MNorth American company using MNeptune’s proprietary production process. It will then be sent to the specialty
chemicals manufacturer for further processing, including purification and formulation into CaPre® under current
Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP) guidelines. These agreements will ensure sufficient quantities of CaPre® for
aur PK and Phase |l clinical trials.

Wi also secured our financial foundation by completing a major financing, a US523 million public offering, along with
a CAD52.15 million private placement in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014. These funds provide us with the
necessary cash to carry out our contemplated clinical and nonclinical research of CaPre®.

Strong, Broad and Valuable Patent Estate

We successfully expanded and defended our intellectual property (IP). Together, with our exclusive royalty free
technology license agreement with Neptune, we have a comprehensive [P estate, including patents covering
compaosition of matter, method of wse and the extraction process. In Movember 2013, Acasti was awarded a
composition of matter patent by the United 5tates Patent and Trademark Office {USPTO) that potentially provides
protection beyond 2028, so we have a very long life to our patent estate,

Together with Neptune, we are committed to defending this fundamental asset and our efforts have paid off. In April
2014 Acasti and Neptune announced the successful conclusion af all outstanding litigation issues relating to the US
International Trade Commission’s (ITC) investigation into infringement of Neptune’s composition of matter patents.
Favourable agreements with all ten Respondents named in the investigation were reached. These settlements
maintain P protection for Acasti and furthermore protect its market as no licensing agreements were signed giving
the right to manufacture products in the pharmaceutical field, Furthermore, they represent a significant victory for
Acasti and Neptune and elearly reflect the strength, value and validity of our collective 1P estate. They also are a clear
validation of our IP procurement and enforcement strategy,

Focused on Long-Term growth

‘We remain confident in our future and are committed to creating sustained shareholder value by further positioning
Acasti as a leader in pharmaceutical grade omega-3 phospholipids. To date, we have seen promising results for
CaPre®. There remain a number of important milestones ahead before we can submit a new drug application to the
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FDA for CaPre®. But, with the encouraging results we have seen to date, along with a strong team, a solid balance
sheet and a firm drive to succeed, we are well positioned to seize the opportunities before ws. Market participants,
including the American Heart Association, have estimated that one-third of the US population has elevated levels of
triglycerides, so there is significant potential if CaPre® is eventually approved. The differentiated benefits of omega-3
phospholipids for pharmaceutical applications are getting better understood and CaPre® has the potential to make a
real difference in cardiovascular care for people worldwide. As these benefits become increasingly known, we are
confident that it will create value for our shareholders.

In closing, we would like to thank our employees for their dedication, our members of the Board for their active and
valued guidance, and you, our sharehalders, for your continued support of the company and trust in leadership. We
will facus on repaying your confidence in our direction by ensuring we continue to build shareholder value through
strong leadership and performance.

f4/ O, Ranold Denis s ¥avier Harfand
Dr. Ronald Denis Xavier Harland
Chairman of the Board Chief Financial Officer

AMKUAL REPORT 2014 4




MANAGEMENT ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION
AND OPERATING RESULTS — YEARS ENDED
FEBRUARY 28, 2014 AND 2013

AMKUAL REPGRT 2014 El




Acasti

##Pharma

MANAGEMENT ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL SITUATION AND
OPERATING RESULTS — YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2014 AND
2013

Introduction

This management's discussion and analysis ("MD&A"} is presented in order to provide the reader with an overview of the
financial results and changes 1o the financial position of Acasti Pharma Inc. (“Acasti™ ar the "Corporation™) as at February 28,
2014 and for the year then ended. This MDA explains the material variations in the financial statements of operations, financial
position and cash flows of Acasti for the years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013. The Corporation effectively commenced
active operations with the transfer of an exclusive worldwide license fram its parent corporation, Meptune Technologies &
Bioressources Inc. {(“Meptune™), in August 2008, The Corporation was inactive prior to that date.,

This MD&A, completed on May 21, 2014, must be read in conjunction with the Corporation's financial statements for the years
ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, The Corporation’s financial statements were prepared in accordance with International
Financing Reporting Standards ["IFRS™), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The Corporation's finandal
results are published in Canadian dollars. All amounts appearing in this MDEA are In thousands of Canadian dodlars, except share
and per share amounts or unless otherwise indicated,

Additional information on the Corporation can be found on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com and on the EDGAR website at
wowwsec goviedgar shiml under Acasti Pharma Inc,

On March 31, 2011, fellowing the submission of an indtial listing application, the Class A shares of the Corparation were listed for
trading an the T5X Venture Exchange under the ticker symbol "APD", In January 2013, the Corporation had its Class A shares
listed on the NASDAC Capital Market exchange, under the symbal "ACST".
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MANAGEMERT ANALYAE OF THE FIKANCLAL SITUATICN AND OPERATING RESULTS

Farward- kil mants

This MD&A contains certain information that may constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of Canadian
securities laws and forward-looking statements within the meaning of .S, federal securities laws, both of which Acasti refers to
in this MD&A as forward-looking information. Forward-looking information can be identified by the use of terms such as “may®,
“will”, “should”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “eontinue™ ar ather
similar expressions concerning matters that are not statements about the present or historical facts. Forward-looking
information in this MDE&A includes, but is not limited to, information or statements about:

*  Acasti's ability to conduct current and new dinical trials for its product candidate, CaPre® including the timing and
results of clinical trials;

«  Acasti's ability 1o commercialize its products and product candidate;

*  Acasti's abllity to secure third-party manufacturer arrangements to provide Acasti with sufficient raw materials for its
operations, including, but not limited to, Acasti's ability to retain a third-party to manufacture CaPre® under good
manufacturing practice ("GMP") standards;

+  Acasti's ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of CaPre®; and

*  Acasti's expectations regarding its financial performance, including its revenues, research and development, expenses,
grass margins, ligquidity, capital resources and capital expenditures.

Although the forward-Jooking information is based upon what Acasti believes are reasonable assumptions, no person should
place undue reliance on such infarmation since actual results may vary materially from the ferward-looking infarmation.

In addition, the forward-looking information is subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other

factors, including those described in this MD&A under the heading “Risk Factars”, many of which are beyond the Corporation's

contral, that could cause the Corporation’s actual results and developments to differ materially from those that are disclosed in

or implied by the forward-looking information, including, without limitation:

whether current and future clinical trials by the Corporation will be successful;

whether CaPre® and Onemia® can be successfully commercialized;

the Corporation’s history of net losses and inability to achieve profitabiliny:

the Corporation’s reliance on third parties for the manufacture, supply and distribution of its products and for the

supply of raw materials, including the ability te retain third parties to produce CaPre® under GMP standards;

+* the Corporation’s reliance on a limited number of distributors for Onemia®™ and its ability to secure distribution
arrangements for CaPre® if it reaches commercialization;

+ the Corporation’s ability to manage future growth effectively;

+ the Corperation’s ability to further achieve profitability;

the Corporation’s ability to secure future financing from Neptune or other third party sources on favorable terms or at

all and, accordingly, continue a5 a going concern;

the Corporation’s ability to gain acceptance of its products in its markets;

the Corporation’s ability to attract, hire and retain key management and scientific personnel;

the Caorporation's ability to achieve its publidy announced milestones on time;

the Corporation's ability to successfully defend any product liability lawsuits that may be brought against it;

intense competition from other companies in the pharmaceutical and medical food industries; and

the Corporation’s ability to secure and defend its intellectual property rights and to avoid infringing upon the

intellectual property rights of third parties.

Consequently, all the forward-looking infarmation is qualified by this cautionary statement and there can be no guarantée that
the results or developments that the Corporation anticipates will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have
the expected consequences or effects on the Corporation’s business, financial condition or results of operations. Accordingly,
you should not place undue reliance on the farward-looking infermation. Except as required by applicable law, Acasti does net
undertake to update or amend any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or
atherwise. All forward-looking infarmation is made as of the date of this MDA,

ARKLAL REPORT 2014 7




MANAGEMERT ANALYAE OF THE FINANCLAL SITUATICN AND OPERATING RESULTS

Business Overview

Acasti is an emerging biopharmaceutical company focused on the research, development and commercialization of new krill oil-
based forms of omega-3 phospholipid therapies for the treatment and prevention of cermain cardiometabolic disorders, in
particular abnormalities in bloed lipids, also known as dyslipidemia. Because krill feeds on phytoplankten (diatoms and
dinoflagellates), it is @ major source of phospholipids and polyunsaturated fatty acids, mainly eicosapentaenoic acid ([EPA) and
docosahexsenoic acid (DHA), which are two types of omega-3 fatty acids well known 1o be beneficial for human health.

CaPre®, Acasti's prescription drug candidate, Is a highly purified omega-3 phospholipid concentrate derived from krill ol and is
being developed to help prevent and treat hypertriglyceridemia, a condition characterized by abnormally high levels of
triglycerides in the bloodstream. In 2011, two Phase Il clinical trials were initiated in Canada (the TRIFECTA trial and the COLT
trial} to evaluate the safety and efficacy of CaPre® for the management of mild to severe hypertrighpcerdemia (high trighycerides
with levels ranging from 200to 877 mgfdL]. Both trials also indude the secondary objective of evaluating the effect of CaPre® in
patients with mild to moderate hypertriglyceridemia (high triglycerides levels ranging from 200 to 499 mg/dL} as well a3 in
patients with moderate o severe hypertriglyceridemia {very high triglycerides levels ranging from 500 to 877 mgfdL). The COLT
trial weas completed during the second quarter of the cusrent fiscal year and the TRIFECTA trial is ongoing. Based on the positive
results of the COLT trial, Acasti has filed an investigational new drug (IND} submission to the U.5. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) to conduct a pharmacokinetic study (PE trialj in the U5, Acasti intends to amend its application used for the PK trial to
request autharization to also conduct a Phase Il clinical wrial 1o investigate the safety and efficacy profile of CaPre® under the
puidelines and rules of the FDA,

Onemia®, Acasti's commereialized product, has been marketed in the United States tnce 2011 a4 3 “medical food”®, Onemia® is
only administered under the supenvision of a physician and is intended for the dietary management of omega-3 phosphalipids
deficiency related to abnormal lipid profiles and cardiometabolic disorders.

Pursuant 1o a license agreement entered into with Neptune in August 2008, Acasti has been granted 3 license to rights an
Heptune’s intellectual property portfolio related to cardiovascular pharmaceutical applications {the “License Agreement™). In
December 2012, the Corporation entered into a prepayment agresment with Meptune pursuant to which the Corporation
exercised its option under the License Agreement to pay in advance all of the future royalties’ payable under the license, The
royalty free license allows Acasti to exploit the subject intellectual property rights in order to develop novel active
pharmaceutical ingredients (“APIS"} into cormmercial products for the medical food and the preseription drug markets, Acasti is
responsible for carrying out the research and development of the APls, as well 35 required regulatory submissions and approvals
and intellectual property filings relating to the cardiovascular applications. The products developed by Acasti require the
approval from the FDA before clinical studies are conducted and approval from similar regulatory organizations before sales are
autharized,

Operations

During the year ended February 28, 2014, Acastl made progress in its research and pharmaceutical product development,
advancing with its prescription drug candidate, CaPre®, while expanding Itz commercialization efforts for its medical feod
Onemia®. The following is 2 summary of the period's highlights.

Clinical Trials Update

During the fiscal year ended February 19, 2012, Acasti initiated two Phase Il clinical trials: (i} the "TRIFECTA trial”, a randormized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled study primarily designed to assess the effect of CaPre® on fasting plasma triglycerides as
compared to a placebo in patients with mild to severe hypertriglyceridemia, for which the first patients were enrolled in
Ocrober 2011, and (i} the "COLT trial”, a randomized open-label dose-ranging, multi-center trial desipned to assess the safety
and efficacy of CaPre® in the treatment of mild to severe hypertrighyceridemia, for which the first patients were encolled in
December 2011. During the three month period ended Movemnber 30, 2013, Acasti filed an IND submission with the FDA for a PE
trial. The PK trial is an open-label, randomized, multiple-dose, single-center, parallel-design study that will evaluate blood
prafiles and bioavailability of omega-3 phospholipids on healthy wolunteers, Acasti's clinical trials’ have continued and
progressed during the year ended February 28, 2014,
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MANAGEMERT ANALYAE OF THE FINANCLAL SITUATICN AND OPERATING RESULTS

COLT Trial

The final results of the COLT trial indicated that CaPre® was safe and effective in reducing triglycerides in patients with mild to
severe hypertrighyceridemia with significant mean (awverage) triglyceride reductions above 20% after & weeks of treatment with
bath daily doses of 4.0g and 2.0p. Demographics and baseline characteristics of the patient population were balanced in terms
of age, race and gender, A total of 283 patients were envolled and randomized and 270 patients completed the study, which
exceeded the targeted number of evaluable patients. From this patient population, approximately 0% had mild to moderate
hypertriglyceridemia. CaPre® was safe and well talerated. The propertion of patients treated with CaPre® that experienced ane
or more adverse events in the COLT trial was similar to that of the standard of care group (30.0% versus 34.5%, respectively). A
substantial majority of adverse events were mild (B2.3%]) and no severe treatment -related adverse effects have been reported.

The COLT trial met its primary objective showing CaPre® to be safe and effective in reducing trighycerides in patients with mild to
severe hypertriglyceridemia. After anly a d-week treatment, CaPre® achieved a statistically significant triglyceride reduction as
compared to standard of care alone. Patients treated with 4.0g of CaPre® 2 day over 4 weeks reached 3 mean trighyceride
decrease of 15.4% from baseline and 2 mean improvernent of 18.0% over the standard of care, Results also showed increased
benefits after 8 weeks of treatment, with patients on a daily dose of 4.0g of CaPre® registering a2 mean triglyceride decrease of
21.6% from baseline and a statistically significant mean improvement of 14,4% over the standard of care. It is noteworthy that a
mean trighyceride reduction of 7.1% was observed for the standard of care group at week 8, which may be explained by lipid
lowering medication adjustments during the study, which was allowed to be administered in the standard of care group alone,

Mareaver, after B weeks of treatment, patients treated with 1.0g for the first 4 weeks of treatment and 2.0g for the following 4
weeks showed a triglycerides reduction of 23.3%, corresponding to a statistically significant mean improvement of 16.2% ower
the 7.1% reduction achieved in the standard of care group, After an B week treatment, patients treated with 2.0g of CaPre® for
the entire & weeks showed a 22.0% trighycerides reduction, coresponding to a statistically significant mean improvement of
14.8% over the 7.1% reduction achieved in the standard of care group. In addition, after 8 weeks of treatment, statistically
significant mean improvements in non-High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (non-HOL-C} and glycated hemoglobin {HbAlch and
wrends of impravement in total cholesteral and HDL-C in patients treated with 4.0g of CaPre® aver the standard of care, a5 well
as a statistically significant treatment effect on HDL-C for all combined doses care were observed. Furthermare, after doubling
the daily dosage of CaPre® after an initial period of 4 weeks, the results indicate a dose response relationship corresponding to a
maintained and improved efficacy of CaPre® after an 8-week period, The efficacy of CaPre® at all deses in reducing trighyeeride
levels and increased effect with dose escalation suggests that CaPre™ may be titrable, allowing physicians to adjust dosage in
arder 1o better manage patients’ medical needs.

On May 1, 2014, Acasti announced that it will be presenting the results of the COLT trial at two scientific forums, the Mational
Lipid Association Scientific Session in the USA from May 1 1o 4, and the 82™ Congress of European Atherosclerasis Society in
Spain from May 31 to June 3.

T Trial

On December 20, 2012, the TRIFECTA trial completed an interim analysis. The review committee made up of medical physicians
assembled to evaluate the progress of the TRIFECTA trial reviewed the interim analysis relative to drug safety and efficacy and
unanimously agreed that the study should continue as planned. All committee members agreed that there were no toxicity
issues related to the intake of CaPre® and that the signals of a possible therapeutic effect, noted as reduction of trighycerides in
the grougs evaluated, were reassuring and sufficiently dinically significant to allow the further continuation of the TRIFECTA
trial. The data was provdded to the committee members blind, meaning that the identity of the three groups was not revealed.
Since the data revealed a possible therapeutic effect without any safety concerns, the committee decided that it was not
necessary to unblind the data.

The number of targeted patients evaluable as per protocol has been reached. Acasti is currently evaluating efficacy and safety
of CaPre® for the treatment of patients with mild to severe hypertrighyceridemia, which is the primary objective of the study.
The secondary objectives of evaluating if statistically significant efficacy was reached in patient populations with mild to
moderate and severe hypertrighyceridemia will also be assessed separately. Based on patient information currently available,
the Corporation does not expect the sample size to be large enough to conclude on the efficacy of CaPre on sewvere
hypertriglyceridemia. Based on literature, Acasti does not expect the FDA to request efficacy data on patients with severe
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MANAGEMERT ANALYAE OF THE FINANCLAL SITUATICN AND OPERATIRG RESULTS

hypertrighyceridemia before granting permission to conduct 2 phase 1l trial. Acasti believes the trial will be completed before
the end of the second quarter of calendar 2014 and results will be available at a future date yet 1o be determined,

PK Trial

The PK trial, a first step in Acastis .5, clinical strategy, is a study that will evaluate blood profiles and bioavailability of omega-3
phosghalipids on healthy volunteers taking single and multiple daily oral doses of 1.0, 2.0 and 4.0g of CaPre®. The PK trial total
treatment duration will be over a 30-day period and will invalve the enrollment of approximately 42 healthy subjects. On
January 9, 2014, Acasti has anncunced that the FDA has allowed the Corporation to conduct its PK trial, having found no
objections with the proposed PK trial design, protocol or safety profile of CaPre®. Acasti also announced that Quintiles, the
waorld's largest provider of biopharmaceutical development and commercial outsourcing services, has been hired to conduct the
PK trial.

Concurrently, Acasti is in communication with FDA and has responded to its recommendations regarding its IND filing for its
pivotal phase 3 dinical trial of CaPre® in the U5, The FDA has invited Acasti to formally request an end of phase Ilfpre ghase NI
meeting to allow them to provide feedback on the submission and to address specific questions for which Acasti is seeking a
buy-in and final response from the FDA. Acast] intends to do this as soon as TRIFECTA trial results are available.

Onemia®

During the year ended February 28, 2014, Acasti furthered its business development and direct commercialization activities in
the .5, for its medical foed Onemia®. Physicians initiated andfor continued their recommendations of Onemia® for patients
dizgnosed with cardiometabolic disorders. Acastl expects continued sales of Onemia® to provide short-term revenues that will
contribute, in part, to finance Acasti's research and development prejects while establishing Acasti's emega-3 phosphelipids
product credentials.

Maore Business Update

Also during the year ended February 28, 2014, Neptune and Acasti announced on or arcund September 26, 2013, the conclusion
of a settlement with Rimfrost USA, LLC [Rimfrast); Olympic Seafood AS; Olympic Biotec Ltd.; Avoca, Inc.; and Bioriginal Food &
Science Corp. (collectively the “Settling Olympic Respondents™) resolving the U.S. International Trade Commission’s (ITC)
investigation related to infringement of Neptune's compasition of matter patents by the Settling Olympic Respendents. The
investigation was instituted earlier this year in March 2013 by Meptune and Acasti in a complaint filed with the ITC. On
December 17, 2013 Meptune and Acastl also announced the conclusion of a settlement with Aker BloMarine AS, Aker BioMarine
Antarctic AS and Aker BioMarine Antarctic USA (collectively the "Settling Aker Respondents”) resolving the ITC investigation
related to infringement of Neptune's composition of matter patents by the Settling Aker Respondents. On December 18, 2013,
HNeptune and Acasti announced that the Administrative Law Judge presiding over the pending ITC investigation invalving
Meptune and Acasti; and Enzymatec Lad., and Enzymotec USA, Inc. (collectively the "Enzymotec Respondents™) granted the
parties’ joint motions to stay the ITC proceedings for thirty days. On or around Agpril 27, 2014, Neptune, Acasti and Enzymatec
announced the conclusion of 3 settlement with the Enzymeotec Respendents resolving the ITC investigation related to
infringement of Neptune’s composition of matter patents by the Settling Enzymotec Respondents. As of April 27, 2014, all the
respandents in the ITC investigation had settled with Meptune and Acastl, and the court will proceed shortly with the closing of
the file.

On Movember 5, 20013, Acasti announced the appointment of Reed V. Tuckson, B.D. to its Board of Directors.

On November 26, 2013, Acasti commenced an underwritten public offering of wnits of Acasti, On December 3, 2013 Acasti
announced the closing of the offering. which concluded in the issuance of 18,400,000 units of Acasti [Public Offering Units) at a
price of US51.25 per Unit for total gross proceeds of LUSS%23,000, each Unit consisting of one Class A share (Common Share} and
one Comman Share purchase warrant (Warrant} of Acasti. Each Warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one Common Share
{Warrant Share} at an exercise price of US51.50 per Warrant Share, subject to adjustment, at any time until the fifth anniversary
of the closing of the affering. Decernber 3, 2018, Neptune acquired US5741 of Public Offering Units in the affering. On February
7. 2014, Acasti announced the closing of a private a placement finandng for total gross proceeds of 52,150 for 1,616,542 units of
Acasti (Private Placement Units) at $1.33 per Private Placement Unit, each Private Flacement Unit consisting of one Classe A
Shares [Commeon shares) and one Common Share purchase warrant [Private Placement Warrant), Each Private Placement
Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Comman Share (Private Placement Warrant Common Share} at an exercise price of
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51.60 per Private Placernent Warrant Common Share, subject to adjustment, at any time until December 3, 2018. Following the
BHtrl'l'lg and private placement, Neptune owned 51,942,183 Commeon Shares of the Corporation, representing approxmately
49.1% of the Commaon Shares issued and outstanding. Acasti intends to allocate the proceeds from the offerings as follows: (i}
approximately U551,000 1o complete its TRIFECTA trial; (i} approsimately U5S52,000 to initiate and cormplete its PE trial; (i}
approximately US58,000 to initiate and complete a phase Il dinical trial to investigate the safety and efficacy profile of CaPre® in
a patient population with very high trighycerides (=500 mgfdL); {iv) approsimately USS55,000 to initiate and complete its
progosed DART and CARCING nonclinical studies; and (v} the balance for general corporate and other working capital purposes.

On December 19, 2013, Acasti announced the appointment of Jerald ). Wenker as special advisor to its Board of Directors. br.
Wenker has alse sccepted the nomination fer election to serve on the Corperation’s Board of Directors at the next Annual
Meeting to be held in 2014, subject to shareholder approval.

Basis of presentation of the financial statements

The Corporation’s current assets as at February 28, 2014 include cash and short-term investments for an amount of 523,701,
mainly generated by the net proceeds from the public and private offerings of commen shares and warrants, completed an
December 3, 2013 and February 7, 2014, respectively. The Corporation also has trade and other receivables of 5919, receivable
fram a corporation under comman control of $50, receivable from parent corporation of 547, tax credits receivable for an
armount of 5134, inventories of 5261 and prepaid expenses of 5703 as at February 28, 2014. The Corporation’s liabilities at
February 28, 2014 are compeised primarily of amounts due creditors for 51,171 as well as derivative warrant liabilities of
511,181, which represents the fair value as of February 28, 2014, of the warrants issued to the Corporation’s public offering
participants, The fair value of the Warrants issued was determined to be 50,58 per warrant upan issuance and 3061 per warrant
as at February 28, 2014, The fair value of the Warrants will be revaluated at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of the
Warrants are recognized in finance costs, The Warrants forming pant of the Units are derivative liabilities ["Derivative warrant
lizbilities”) for accounting purposes due to the currency of the exercise price being different fram the Corporation’s functional
Currency.

The Corporation is subject to a number of risks associated with the successful development of new praducts and their
marketing, the conduct of its clinical studies and their results, the meeting of development objectives set by Neptune in its
license agreement, and the establishment of strategic alliances. The Corporation has incurred significant operating losses and
negative cash flows from operations since inception. To date, the Corporation has financed its eperations threugh public
offering and private placement of common shares, funds from its parent corporation, issuance of warrants, rights and options
and research tax credits. Te achieve the ebjectives of its business plan, the Corperation plans to establish strategic alliances,
raise the necessary capital and make sales. It is anticipated that the products developed by the Corporation will require
approval from the U5 Food and Drug Administration and equivalent organizations in other countries before their sale can be
autharized. The ability of the Corporation to ultimately achieve profitable operations s dependent on a number of factors
outside of the Corparation’s contrel,
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
fin thousands ol dalars, except per share data)

Three-maonth periods ended

February 28, Years ended
February 28,  February 28, February 29,
2014 2013 2014 2013 2012
5 5 4 5 [
Revenue from sales 201 49 501 724 10
Adjusted EBITDA!™ [@77) (1,373} {5,584) {4,397} (4,524}
Met loss and comprehensive lass (2,553} {1,952} (11,612) {6,892} (6,501}
Basic and diluted loss per share {0.02) (0.03} (0.14) (0.09) [0.10}
Total assets 45,632 12170 45,632 12,170 15,729
Warking capinal”™ 24,646 3413 24,696 3,413 7.597
Total non-current financial liakilities 11,181 = 11,181 = -
Total equity 33,280 o724 33,280 9,724 14,469
Book value per Class A shara™ 0.31 013 031 0,13 0.20

(1) The Adjustid EBITDA & sot & standacd meane eadorsed by IFRS requinements, o ecoaciatien te Uhe Corporalions el loss s presented below.

B2 Thee working capital is prosanted for ialermation purposes only and repeeients & mebanurement of e Corporation’s shon-tesm Tinamsa health mestly
weed in Binancial cirches, The working capital s cakulated by subbracting current liabilities from curent sasets. Becadse there i3 no standard meethaod
endorsed by IFRS regu rements, the resalts may mot be compamibe to U milar measrements presented by other oublic comoan es,

i3} The boox value per share [ presented for nformation purposes only and s obtaled by dividing the sharehoiders” equity by the number of
cutstandag Class A shaves ot the end af the pevicd, Because there s no standard method endorsed By IFRS reguirerments, the results min not be
camaratie be similer Memutemests preseated by olser sablic compases

RECONCILIATION OF THE ADJUSTED EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION (ACIUSTED
EBITDA)

A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA is presented in the table below. The Corporation uses adjusted financial measures 1o assess
its operating performance. Securities regulations require that companies caution readers that earnings and other measures
adjusted to a basis other than IFRS do not have standardized meanings and are unlikely to be comparable ta similar measures
used by other companies. Accordingly, they should not be considered in fsolation. The Corporation uses Adjusted EBITDA to
measure its performance from one period to the next without the variation caused by certain adjustments that could potentially
distort the analysis of trends in our operating performance, and because the Corporation believes it provides meaningful
infarmation an the Corporation financial condition and operating results,

Acasti obtains its Adjusted EBITDA mezsurement by adding to net loss, finance costs, depreciation and amortization and income
taxes and by subtracting interest income. Acasti also excludes the effects of certain non-monetary transactions recorded, such
as gain or loss on foreign exchange and stock-based compensation, from its Adjusted EBITDA cabculation, The Corporation
believes it is weful to exclude these items as they are either non-cash expenses, items that cannot be influenced by
management in the short term, or items that do not impact core operating performance, Excluding these items does not imply
they are necessarily NOAMRECUrring.
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RECONCILIATION OF ADIUSTED EBITDA
(7 thousands of dotars, except per share data)

Three-maonth pericds ended Years ended
February,
February 28, February 28,  February 19,
2014 2013 2014 2013 2012
3 3 5 £ %
Met loss {2,553} {1,852) [11,612) [6,892) {6,501}
Add (deduct)
Finance costs 1,073 1 1,626 3 4
Interest Income {Th (12) [32) 1ar 143}
Depreciation and amortization 435 166 1,774 E&ES 663
Stock-based compensation 338 453 3442 1917 1321
Forelgn exchange (gain) loss (763} {24) (782 {43} ey
Adjusted EBITDA (977} 11,373) (5.584] {4,397} (4,524}
SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
fin thousands of dalars, except per share data)
Fiscal year ended February 28, 2014
First Second Third Fourth
Tatal Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
5 5 5 5 5
Revenue fram sales 501 & 66 P 01
Adjusted EBITDA'™ {5,584} {1,270} {1,763} [1574) (@77}
Met lnss (11,612) (1,965) (3,238} (3,856) (2,553}
Basic and diluted loss per share 10.14) [0.03} 10,0} [0.05} [0.02}
Fiscal year ended February 28, 2013
First Second Third Fourth
Taital Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
5 5 H B 5
Revenue from sales F24 14 237 424 49
Adjusted EBITDA' {4,387} (923} {1053} {1,048) (1,373}
Met loss {6,892} {1,576} {1752} [1,611) (1,953}
Basic and diluted loss per share 10.09) {0.02} {0.02} [0.02} (0.03}

§1F Toe Adjusted EBITON & not & standacd mednane endorsed by IFRS requinements, & reconciiation toUhe Corporalions nel lass (s presenbid abave,
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COMMENTS ON THE SIGNIFICANT VARIATIONS OF RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE-MONTH PERIODS AND YEARS
ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2014 AND 2013

Revenues

The Corporation generated revenues from sales of 5201 from the commerdalization of Onemia®, its medical foed product,
during the three-month period ended February 28, 2014, The Corporation generated revenue from sales of 549 during the
correspanding period in 2013,

The Corporation generated revenues from sales of 5501 from the commerdalization of Onemia®, its medical food product,
during the year ended February 28, 2014, a decrease of 5223 form the revenues of 5724 generated during corresponding period
of 2003, The revenves were generated from a distribution agreement the Corporation entered inte with a US distributor
specialized in medical food, as well as from sales made directly to customers in the United States. Acasti relies on a limited
number of distributers / clients, therefore, revenues from sales may vary significantly period to period.

Gross Profit

Gross profit is caloulated by deducting the cost of sales from revenwe, Cost of sales consists primarily of costs incurred to
manufacture products. it alse indudes related overheads, such as certain costs related to quality control and quality assurance,
inventory management, sub-contracions and costs for SErvicing and cOmmissioning.

The grass profit for the three-month period ended February 28, 2014 amounted to 577 or 38%, shightly below the Corporation’s
target range for its gross profit margin, being 40 to 60%,  The Corporation realized a gross profit of 512 or 24% during the three-
maonth period ended February 28, 2013,

The grass profit far the year ended February 28, 2014 amounted to $209 or 423%, which is in the Corporation’s target range for
its gross profit margin. The Corporation realized a gross profit of 5318 or 44% during the year ended February 28, 2013,

The gross margin for the year ended February 28, 2014 was in |ower range of the Corporation’s target range for its profit margin
because of the increased cost of raw material the Corporation incurred following Meptune’s interruption of production.

Breakdown of Major Compoenents of the Statement of Earnings and Comprehensive Loss for the Three-menth periods and
years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013

General and administrative expenses Three-month periods ended Years ended February 28,
February 28,

2014 2013 2014 2013

5 5 3 5

Salaries and benefits 323 158 9490 912
Stock-based compensation 641 zr 2,341 1,462
Frofessional fees 98 231 492 527
Royalties - 173 228 450
Amortization and depreciation 435 166 L7714 GBS
Sales and marketing 2 11 16 131
Investor relations 54 4 138 31
Rent 5 2 100 54
Other 36 ] 833 57
TOTAL 1,614 1,087 6,712 4,289
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Research and development expenses Three-month periods ended Years ended February 28,
Feloruary 28,

2014 2013 2014 2013

5 E % 5

Salaries and benefits 54 163 457 6E4
Stock-based compensation 197 126 B01 455
Contracts 503 816 3,081 2,030
Regulatory expenses 32 i 141 68
Professional fees k] & 214 67
Other 11 18 73 75
Tax credits [118) (213} (270} [(370)
TOTAL 714 918 4,297 3,009

Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization [Adjusted EBITDA)

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 5396 for the three-month pericd ended February 28, 2014 to 5(577) compared 1o 5(1,373) for the
three-month pericd ended February 28, 2013, mainly due to the decrease in general and administrative and research and
development expenses before consideration of stock-based compensation and amortization and depreciation as well as to an
increase in gross profit. The decrease in general and administrative expenses is mainly attributable to decreases in professional
fees and royalties, offset by an increase in salaries and benefit. The decrease in research and development expenses is mainly
artributable to decreases in salaries and benefits and contract expenses related to the Corporation’s dinical trials and regulatary
EXPENIES.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by 51,187 for the year ended February 28, 2014 to 5(5,584) compared to 5{4,397} for the year
ended February 28, 2013, mainly due to the increase in research and development expenses, before consideration of stock-
based compensation and amortization and depreciation, and decrease in gross profit.  The increase in research and
development expenses is mainly attributable to increases in contract expenses related to the Corporation’s clinical trials.

Het Loss

The Corporation realized a net loss for the three-month period ended February 28, 2014 of 52,553 ar 50.02 per share compared
to a net boss of 51,952 or 50.03 per share for the three-month period ended February 28, 2013, These results are mainly
attributable to the factors described above in the Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA sections as well as by increases in
amortization and depreciation, following the increase in the Corporation’s license asset as a result of the prepayment agreement
with Meptune, stock-based compensation expenses, related to the grant of stock options and restricted share units, and finance
costs related to the Corporation’s financing dosed on December 3, 2013 and the increase in value of the derivative warrant
lizbilities, principally offset by the foreign exchange gain over the period.

The Corporation realized a net boss for the year ended February 28, 2014 of 511,612 or 50.14 per share compared to a net loss of
46,892 or 50.09 per share for the year ended February 28, 2013. These results are mainly attributable to the factors described
above in the Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA sections 25 well a5 by increases in amortization and depreciation, following the
increase in the Corpaoration’s license asset as a result of the prepayment agreement with Meptune, stock based compensation
expenses, related to the grant of stock options and restricted share units, and finance costs related to the Corporation’s
financing dosed on December 3, 2013 and the increase in value of the derivative warrant liabilities, principally offset by the
foreign exchange gain over the period.
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Share Capital Structure

The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A, Class B, Class C, Class D and Class E shares, without par
value. Issued and cutstanding fully paid shares, stodk options, restricted shares units and warrants, were as follows:

February 28, 2014 February 28, 2013

Class A shares, vating, participating and without par value 105,862,179 73,107,538
Stock options granted and outstanding 4,911,000 5,216,250
Restricted Shares Units granted and outstanding 775,001 -
Series 4 warrants exercisable at 30.25 wntil October 8, 2013 - 5432,350
Series 6 & T warrants exercisable at $1.50 until February 10, 2015 750,000 750,000
Seires 8 warrants exercisable at $1.50 W50, until Decernber 3, 2018 18,400,000 -
Series 9 warrants exercisable at $1.60, umtil December 3, 2018 1,616,542 -
Total fully diluted shares 132,314,722 84,506,138

CasH FLOWS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION BETWEEN THE THREE-MONTH PERIODS AND YEARS ENDED FEgrRUARY 28, 2014 aND
2013

Operating Activities

During the three-manth periods ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, the Corporatien's operating activities generated a decrease
in liguidity of 54,616 and an increase of 560, respectively, consisting of the net loss incurred for the quarter adjusted for non-
cash items, such as depreciation of equipment, amartization of intangible asset, stock-hased compensation, finance expenses
and foreign exchange, as well as for the net changes in non-cash operating working capital iterns for the period, The net changes
in non-cash operating working capital items for the three-month period ended February 28, 2014 amounted to an decrease of
%3,654 and is mainly due to increases in trade and other receivables (5447), in prepaid expenses (5377), as well as to decreases
in trade and other payables (5428), in payable to parent corporation (52,490) in royalties payable to parent corporation (5337,
principally offset by decreases in tax credit receivable ($352) and inventories [$119). The net changes in non-cash operating
warking capital items for the three-menth period ended February 28, 2013, amounted to an increase of 51,427 and is mainly
due to decreases in trade and other receivables (5670} and tax credits receivable (5310) as well as increases in payable to parent
corporation (5378) and royalties payable to parent corporation [$198), principally offset by a decrease in trade and other
payables (5189).

During the years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation’s operating activities generated decreases in liguidity of
56,697 and 52,549, respectively, consisting of the net loss incurred for the year adjusted for mon-cash items, such as
depreciation of equipment, amartization of intangible asset, stock-based compensation, finance expenses and fareign exchange,
as well as fior the net changes in non-cash operating working capital items for the period. The net changes in non-cash operating
waorking capital items for the year ended February 28, 2014 amounted to a decrease of $1,127 and Is mainly due to increases in
trade and ather receivables (5469) and prepaid expenses (S687) as well a5 to decreases in payable to parent corporation (5417)
and royalties payable to parent corporation {5134}, principally offset by a decrease in tax credits receivables [$201) and an
increase in trade and other payables. The net changes in non-cash operating working capital items for the yvear ended Februany
28, 2013, amounted to an increase of $1,836 and is mainly due to decreases in tax credit receivable (5255) and inventories
15377} as well as decreases in payable to parent corporation (5996} and royalties payable to parent corporation ($480),
principally offset by an increase in trade and other payables ($289),

Investing Activities

During the three-manth perieds ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation's investing activities generated an decrease
in liquidities of 522,202 and an increase in liquidities of $168, respectively. The decrease in liquidity generated by investing
activities during the three-month period ended February 28, 2014 is mainly due to the acquisition of short-term investments of
£22 396, princpally offset by the maturity of short-term investments of $250. The increase in liquidity generated by investing
activities during the three-month period ended February 28, 2013 is mainly due to the maturity of shart-term investment of
£250, offset by the acquisition of intangible assets of 583,

ARKLAL REPORT 2014 15




MANAGEMERT ANALYAE OF THE FINANCLAL SITUATICN AND OPERATING RESULTS

During the years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation’s investing activities generated a decrease in liquidities of
$19,446 and an increase in liquidities of 51,899, respectively. The decrease in Nquidity generated by investing activities during
the year ended February 28, 2014 is mainly due to the acquisition of short-term investments of 525,396, principally offset by the
maturity of short-term investments of 56,000, The increase in liquidity generated by investing activities during the year ended
February 28, 2013 is mainky due to the maturity of short-term investment of 52,000, offset by the acquisition of intangible assets
af 5103,

Financing Activities

During the three-manth periods ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation's financing activities generated increases in
liquidities of $24,023 and $185, respectively. The increase in liguidities generated from financing activity during the three-month
periods ended February 28, 2014 resulted mainly from the net preceeds from a public offering of 521,953 and net proceeds
from a private placement of 52,068, The increase in liquidities generated from financing activity during the three-month periods
ended February 28, 2013 resulted mainly from proceeds from exercise of warrants and options of 5185,

During the years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, the Corporation's financing activities generated increases in liquidities of
524,963 and 5227, respectively. The increase in liquidities generated from financing activity during the year ended February 28,
2014 resulted mainly from the net proceeds from a public offering of 521,953, net proceeds from a private placement of 2,068
and proceeds from exercise of warrants and eptions of $872. The increase in liquidities generated from financing activity during
the years ended February 28, 2013 resulted mainly from proceeds from exercise of warrants and options of $229,

Onverall, a5 a result, thee Corparation’s eash decreased by $521 and decreased by 5393, respectively, for the years ended February
28, 2014 and 2013. Total liquidities as at February 28, 2014, comprised of cash and short<term investiments, amounted 1o
£23,701. See basis of presentation for additional discussion of the Corporation’s financial condition.

To date, the Corparation has financed it operations primarily through public offering and private placement of commaon shares,
proceeds from the exercise of rights, options and warrants, as well as research tax credits. The futwe profitability of the
Corporation is dependent upon such factars as the success of the clinical trials, the approval by regulatery authorities of
products developed by the Corperation, the ability of the Corporation to successfully market and sell and distribute preducts, As
a result of proceeds received from the public offering of 18,400,000 Public Offering Units of Acasti, the Corporation has
sufficient capital to operate over the next twelve months and beyond, and therefore, the going concern material uncertainty has
been removed as the Corparation expects to be in a position to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business.
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Financial Position
The following table details the significant changes to the statements of financial position as at February 28, 2014 compared 1o
February 28, 2013

Accounts Increase Comments
(Decrease)

Cash {521} See cash flow statement

Acquisition of short-term investments with

Short-term investments 19,446 proceeds from public offering

Trade and other receivables 465 Slow receivables payment

Tax credits receivable {200 Tax credit reimbursement received

Prepaid expenses 687 Increases in advance payments

Intangible assets 13,485 Acguisition of royalty free license

Increase in amount owed related to

Trade and other payables A4 research contracts and finance costs

Payable 1o parent corporation Reimbursement of amounts owed to

{1.211}) parent corparation

Royalties payable to parent corporation Adjustment for royalty prepayment and

{5291 payment of royalties owed

Derivative warrant liabilities (11,181} Warrants issued in public offering

License Agreement

The Corporation was initially committed under the License Agreement to pay Neptune until the expiration of Meptune’s patents
on licensed intellectual property a royalty equal to the sum of (a) in relation to sales of products in the licensed field, if any, the
greater of: (i} 7.5% of net sales, and (i} 15% of Acasti’s gross margin; and (b} 20% of revenues from sub-licenses granted by
Acasti to third parties, if any. The Bcense will expire on the date of expiration of the last-to-expire of the licensed patent claims
andfor cantinuation in part andfor divisional of the licensed patent claims. After the last-to expire of the licensed patents on
licensed intellectual property, which is currently expected to occur in 2022, the license will automatically renew for an additional
period of 15 years, during which pericd royalties were to be equal to half of those calculated according to the above formula. In
addition, the License Agreement provided for minimum reyalty payments natwithstanding the above of: year 1 - nil; year 2 -
550; year 3 - 5200; year 4 - 5225 [initially 5300, but reduced to $225 following Acasti's abandonment of its rights to develop
products for the aver-the-counter market pursuant to the license); year 5 - 5700; and year & and thereafter - 5750, Minimum
royalties are based on contract vears based on the effective date of the License Agreement, August 7, 2008.

On December 4, 2012, the Corparation announced that it entered into a prepayment agreement with Meptune pursuant 1o
which the Corporation exercised its option under the License Agreement to pay in advance all of the future reyalties' payable
under the license. The value of the prepayment, determined with the assistance of outside valuations specialists, using the pre-
established formula set forth in the License Agreement, and adjusted to reflect the royalties of $395 accrued from December 4,
20132 to July 12, 2013, amounts to approximately 515,130, The prepayment and accrued royalties have been paid through the
issuance of 6,750,000 Class A shares of Acasti, issued at a price of $2.30 per share, totalling $15,525, on July 12, 2013, upon the
exercise of a warrant delivered to Neptune at the signature of the prepayment agreement and following the Corporation’s
disinterested shareholders and TSX Venture Exchange approvals. The Corporation no langer has royalty payment commitment
under the License Agreement.

The Corparation has no off-balance sheet arrangements. As of February 28, 2014, the Corporation’s Habilites are 512,352, of
which 51,171 is due within twelve moaths and 511,181 relates to a derivative warrant liability that will be settled in shares and
thus is exduded from the table below.
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A summary of Acasti's contractual obligations at February 28, 2014 is as follows:

Tonal Less than 1 1-3vyears 3-Syears  Greater than

year 5 years.

5 & 5 5 &

Payables 1,171 1,171 - - -
Research and development contracts 1,351 1,351 - - -
Tatal 2,522 2,522 - - -

Significant commitments as of February 28, 2014 include:

Research and development agreements
In the normal course of business, the Corporation has signed agreements with various partners and suppliers for them to
execute research projects and to produce and market certain products.

The Corparation initiated research and development projects that will be conducted over a 12 to 24 month period for a total
initial cost of 55,171, of which an amount of 53,550 has been paid to date. As at February 28, 2014, an amoumt of 5261 is
included in “Trade and other payables™ in relation to these projects.

Related Party Transactions

The Carporation was charged by Meptune for certaln costs incurred by Meptune for the benefit of the Corporation in the amount
of 51,812 during the year ended February 28, 2014 (51,038 for administrative costs, 5546 for research and development costs
and 228 for royalties} and 52,072 during the year ended February 28, 2013 (5943 for administrative costs, $678 for research and
development costs and 5450 for royalties). These transactions are in the normal course of operations. Where Neptumne incurs
specific incremental costs for the benefit of the Corporation, it charges those amounts directly. Costs that benefit moare than one
entity of the Neptune group are being charged by allocating a fraction of costs incurred by Neptune that is commensurate to the
estimated fraction of services or benefits received by each entity for those items. These charges do not regresent all charges
incurred by Neptune that may have benefited the Corporation, because, amongst others, Neptune does not allocate certain
commaon office expenses and does not charge interest on indebtedness. Also, these charges do not necessarily represent the
cost that the Corporation would otherwise need to incur should it not receive these services or benefits through the shared
resources of Neptune or receive financing from Neptune.

Fayables to parent corporation had no specified maturity date for payment or reimbursement and did not bear interest.

The key management personnel of the Corporation are the members of the Board of Directors and certain officers. They control
2% of the voting shares of the Corporation. See note 5 to the financial statements for disclosures of key management persoanel
compensation,

On December 4, 2012, the Corporation entered into a prepayment agreement with Meptune as detalled under “Financial
Positian”,

Subsequent events

On April 28, 2014, Acasti announced the resignation of Mr. Henr Harland as President and Chief Executive Officer of Acasti.
Discussions are ongoing at the Board of Directors of the Corporation related to the settlement of his employment contract. As
of the date of this MDEA no agreement has been reached and an estimate of its financial effect cannot be made.
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Use of estimates and measurement of uncertainty

The preparation of the finandal statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, lakilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates are based on the management's best knowledge of current
events and actions that the Corporation may undertake in the future. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed onan
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected. Critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recaognized in the financial statements include the identification of triggering events indicating that intangible assets might be
impaired and the use of the going concern basis of preparation of the financal statements. At each reporting peried,
management assesses the basis of preparation of the financial statements, These financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis in accordance with IFRS. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue
its operations for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the
normal course of business, Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment within the next financial year include allocation of shared costs amongst the Neptune group companies [See Related
Party Transactions section above) and the measurement dervative warrant labilities (note 11 to the financial statements) and
of stock-based compensation (note 14 o the financial statements). Also, the management uses judgment to determine which
research and development ["RED") expences qualify for R&D tax credits and in what amounts. The Corporation recognizes the
1ax credits once it has reasonable assurance that they will be realized, Recorded tax credits are subject to review and approval
by tax autharities and therefore, could be different fram the amounts recorded.

Critical Accounting Policigs
Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying value of the Corporation’s license asset is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any

indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. The identification of
impairment indicators and the estimation of recoverable amounts require the use of judgment.

Derivative warrant liabilities

The warrants forming part of the Units [ssued from the current year's public offering are derivative liabilities for accounting
purposes due to the currency of the exercise price being different from the Corporation’s functional currency, The derivative
warrant liabilities are required to be measure at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in
earnings. The Corporation’s uses Black-Scholes pricing model 1o determine the fair value, The model requires the assumption of
future stock price welatility, which is estimated based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due
to publicly available information, when the shares have not been traded on a recognized exchange for a period of time that is
commensurate with the estimated life of the instrument, it is estimated using historical volatility of comparable eorporations,
Changes to the expected wvolatility could cause significant variations in the estimated fair value of the derivative warrant
liabilities.

Stock-based compensation

The Corporation has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in note 14 of the financial statements. The
Corporation accounts for stock options granted to employees based on the fair value method, with fair value determined using
the Black-5choles model. The Black Scholes model requires certain assumgptions such a5 future stock price volatility and
expected life of the instrument. Expected wolatility is estimated based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for
changes expected due to publicly available information, when the shares have not been traded on 2 recognized exchange for a
period of time that is commensurate with estimated life of the option, it is estimated using historical volatility of comparable
corporations. The expected life of the instrument is estimated based on historical experience and general holder behavior.
Under the fair value methed, compensation eost is measured at fair value at date of grant and is expensed over the award's
vesting peried with a corresponding increase in contributed swrplus, For stodk options granted to non-employees, the
Corporation measures based on the fair value of services received, unless those are not reliably estimable, in which case the
Corporation measures the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Compensation cost is measured when the company
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
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Alsg, the Corporation records as stock-based compensation expense a portion of the expense being recorded by Meptune that is
commensurate to the fraction of owerall services that the grantees provide directly to the Corporation with the offset to
contributed surplus reflecting Neptune®s contribution to the Corparation.

Tax credits
Tax credits related to eligible expenses are accounted for a5 a reduction of related costs in the year during which the expenses
are incurred as long as there is reasonable assurance of their realization.,

Recently Adopted Accounting Policies

On March 1, 2013, the Corporation adopted the following new accounting standard issued by the IASB: IFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement, replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRS with a single source of fair value
measurement guidance. It defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an ordery transaction between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. an exit price. The application of the IFRS 13
did not have a material impact on the financial statements,

Future Accounting change

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective for the year ended
February 28, 2014, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements, IFR5 9, Financial Instruments, was issued
i Mowvember 2009, It addresses classification and measurement of financlal assets and financial liabilities. In November 2013,
the 1858 issued a new general hedge accounting standard, which forms part of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2013), The new
standard removes the January 1, 2015 prior effective date of IFRS 9. The new mandatory effective date will be determined
once the classification and measurement and impairment phases of IFRS 9 are finalized. The mandatory effective date Is nat
yet determined, however, early adoption of the new standard is still permitted,  |n February 2014, a tentative decision
established the mandatory effective application for annual periods beginning on or after lanuary 1, 2018. The Corporation has
nat yet assessed the impact of adeption of IFRS 9 and does not intend 1o early adopt IFRS 9 in its financial statements.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In compliance with the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 52-109, we have filed certificates signed by the
Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"} and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO™) that, amang other things, report on the design and
effectiveness of disclosure contrals and procedures and the design and effectiveness of internal cantrals over financial reporting.

Disclosure controls and procedures
The CEQ and the CFO have designed disclosure contrals and procedures, or have caused them to be designed under their
supervision, inorder to provide reasonable assurance that:
+  material information relating to the Corporation has been made knewn 1o them; and
* information required to be disclosed in the Corporation’s filings is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in securities legislation,

An evaluation was carried out, under the supervision of the CED and the CFO, of the design and effectiveness of our disclasure
controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, the CEQ and the CFO concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures
are effective as of February 28, 2014,
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Internal contrals over financial reporting

The CEQ and the CFO have also designed internal controls over financial reporting, or have caused them to be designed under
their supervision, in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes.

An evaluation was carried out, under the supervision of the CEQ and the CFO, of the design and effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting, Based on this evaluation, the CEO and the OFD concluded that the internal controls over
financial reporting are effective as of February 28, 2014, using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission {CO5S0) an Internal Contral = Integrated Framewaork {1992 Framework).

Changes in internal controls over financial reporting

Mo changes were made to our internal controls aver financial reporting that ocourred during the quarter and fiscal year ended
February 28, 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls aver financial
reparting,

Financial Instruments

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of a loss if a customer or counterparty to a finandal asset fails to meet its contractual ebligations, and
arises primarily from the Corporation’s trade receivables. The Corporation may also have credit risk relating to cash and short-
term investments, which it manages by dealing only with highly-rated Canadian institutions. The carrying amount of finandal
assets, as disclosed in the statements of financial position, represents the Corporation’s credit exposure at the reparting date.
The Corporation’s trade recelvables and credit exposure fluctuate throughout the year. The Corporation’s average trade
receivables and credit exposure during the year may be higher than the balance at the end of that reporting year.

The Corporation's credit risk for trade receivables |s concentrated, as the majority of its sales are to one customer. As at
February 28, 2014, the Corporation has eight trade debtors (Seven in 2013, Most sales' payment terms are set in accordance
with industry practice. One customer represents 100% {one customer represented 97% as at February 28, 2013) of total trade
accounts incleded in trade and other recelvables as at February 28, 2014,

Maost of the Corporation's customers are distributors for a given territory and are privately-held enterprises. The profile and
credit quality of the Corporatien’s retail custemers vary significantly, Adverse changes in a customer's financial pasition could
cause the Corporation to limit or discontinue conducting business with that customer, require the Corporation to assume more
credit risk relating to that customer's future purchases or result in uncollectible accounts receivable from that customer. Such
changes could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows,

Customers do not provide collateral in exchange for credit, except in wnusual droumstances. Receivables from selected
customers are covered by credit insurance, with coverage amount usually of 100% of the imsolcing, with the exception of some
customers under specific terms, The information available thraugh the insurers is the main element in the decision process to
determine the credit limits assigned to customers.

The Corporation’s extension of credit to customers invalves considerable judgment and is based on an evaluation of each
customer’s finandal condition and payment history. The Corporation has established various internal controls designed to
mitigate credit risk, including a eredit analysis by the insurer which recommends customers' eredit limits and payment terms
that are reviewed and approved by the Corporation. The Corporation reviews periodically the insurer’s maximum credit
quotation for each of its clients. Mew dients are subject to the same process as regular clients. The Corporation has also
established procedures to obtain approval by senior management to release goods for shipment when customers have fully-
utilized approved insurers credit limits. From time to time, the Corporation will temporarily transact with customers on a
prepayment basls where circumstances warrant.
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While the Corporation’s credit controls and processes have been effective in mitigating credit risk, these controls canmat
eliminate credit risk and there can be no assurance that these controls will continue to be effective, or that the Cerporation’s
low credit loss experience will continue.

The Corporation provides for trade receivable accounts to their expected realizable value as soon as the account is determined
nat ta be fully collectible, with such write-offs charged to earnings unless the loss has been provided for in prior years, in which
case the write-off is applied 1o reduce the allowance for doubtful accounts, The Corporation updates its estimate of the
allowance for doubtiul accounts, based on evaluations of the collectability of trade receivable balances at each reporting date,
taking into account amounts which are past due, and any available information indicating that a customer could be
experiencing liquidity or going concern prablems.

The aging of trade receivable balances and the allowance for doubtful accounts as at February 28, 2014 and 2013 were as
follows:

2014 03
Current 5 196 5 -
Fast due 0-30 days - -
Pag due 31-120 days L 175
Past due 121-180 days 173 3
Trade receivables 398 178
Less allowance for doubtful accounts {3} 13}
3 395 5 175

The allowance for doubtful aceounts is for custamer accounts aver 121 days past due. There was no mavement in allowance
for doubtful accounts in respect of trade receivables during the year ended February 28, 2014,

Currency risk

The Corporation is exposed to the financial risk related 1o the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates and the degrees of volatility
of those rates. Foreign currency risk is limited to the portion of the Corporation's business transactions denominated in
currencies ather than the Canadian dollar, Fluctuations related 1o foreign exchange rates could cause unforeseen fluctuations
in the Corporation's operating results.

All of the Carparation’s revenues are in US dallars, A portion of the expenses, mainly related to research contracts, is made in
US dollars. There is a financial risk involved related to the fluctuation in the value of the US dollar in relation to the Canadian
dollar.
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The following table prevides an indication of the Corporation’s significant foreign exchange currency exposures as stated in

Canadian dollars at the following dates:

February 28, 2014 Felbruary 28, 2013

55 Uss

Cash 361 685
short-term investments 15,505 =
Trade and ather receivables 398 178
Trade and other payables {260} (a2}
16,004 781

The fallowing exchange rates are those applicable to the following perieds and dates:

February 28, February 28,

2014 2013

Average Reporting Average Reporting

55 per CAD 1.0466 1.1074 1.0058 1.0314

Based on the Corporation’s foreign currency exposures noted above, varying the above foreign exchange rates to reflect a 5%
strengthening of the US dollar would have increased the net profit as follows, assuming that all other variables remained

constant:
February 28, February 28,
2014 203
S5 153
Increase in net prafit 806 39

An assumed 5% weakening of the foreign currency would have had an equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other

variables remained constant,
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate becawse of changes in
market rates.

The Corporation’s exposure to interest rate risk as at February 28, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Cash Shaort-term fixed interest rate
Shart-term investments Shart-term fixed interest rate

The capacity of the Corporation to reinvest the shart-term amounts with equivalent return will be impacted by variations in
short-term fixed interest rates available on the market.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will nat be able to meet its financial abligations as they fall due, The Corporatian
manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage, as outlined in Mote 20. It also
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected cach flows. The Board of Directors reviews and
approves the Corporation's operating budgets, and reviews the most important material transactions outside the normal
course of business.

The fallowing are the contractual maturities of financial liabilivies as at February 28, 2014 and 2013:

February 28, 2014
Required payments per year Taotal Carrying Less than 1to Maore than
ameount 1 year 5 years 5 years
Trade and other payables 51,171 51171 51,171 5 = 5 %

The Derivative warrant liabilities are excluded from the above table as they will be settled in shares and not by the use of
liquidities.

February 28, 2013

Required payments per year Carrying Less than 1t More than
Tatal amount 1 year 5 years 5 years
Trade and ather payables 5 77 5 707 5 707 5 - 5 -
Payable to parent corparation 1,210 1,210 1,210 - -
Royalties payable to parent corporation 529 529 529 = -
5 2,446 § 2,446 52,446 5 - 5 5
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Risk Factors

Inwesting in securities of the Corporation involves a high degree of risk. The information contained in the financial statements for
the years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013 and this MDA should be read in conjunction with all of the Corparation and
HNeptune’s public filings with securities regulatory authorities. In particular, prospective investors should carefully consider the
risks and uncertainties described in our filings with securities regulators, including those described under the heading "Risk
Factors” in our short form based prospectus and its supplements, as well 25 in our latest annual information form, which are
available on SEDAR at www sedar.com and on EDGAR at woww sec gov/edgar shiml,

Additional risks and uncertainties, including those af which the Carporation is currently unaware or that it deems immaterial,
may also adversely affect the Corporation’s business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operation and prospects.

Product Liability

The parent corporation Meptune has secured a 55,000 product liability insurance palicy, which also covers its subsidiaries,
renewable on an annual basis, to cover civil Hability relating to its products. Neptune also maintains a quality-assurance process
that i “Guality Management Frogram™ certified by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency and has obtained GMP accreditation
from Health Canada.

agditional Int i

Updated and additional information on the Corporation and the parent corporation Neptune Technologies & Bioressources is
available from the SEDAR Website at www sedar.com or on EDGAR 3t www.sec govfedgar chiml,

As at May 21, 2014, the total number of Class A shares of the Corporation issued and outstanding was 105,862,179, The
Corporation alse has 4,911,000 stock eptions, 775,001 restricted shares units, 20,766,542 Series B, 7, 8 & 9 warrants
outstanding.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

Ta the Sharehalders of Acasti Pharma Inc.

We hawve audited the accompanying finandal statements of Acasti Pharma Inc, which comprise the statements of financial position as at
February 28, 2004 and 2013, the statements of earnings and comprehensive lass, changes in eguity and cash flows for the years then ended, and
nctes, comprising a summary of significant accounting polickes and ather explanatory infarmation,

Management's Responsibility for the Financlal Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and falr presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Internatienal Financil
Reporting Standards as dsved by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such imernal control as management determines is
mecessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free fram material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Awrditors’ Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express an opinien on these finandal statements based on our audits, We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian
B Iy accepted auditing dards. Those dards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the awdit to obtain
reasenable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from materlal misstatement.

An audht involves performing procedures 1o obtain audit evidenoe about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The precedures
selected depend on our judgment. including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statemaents, whether due to fraud
o error. In making those risk assessmants, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order te design audit procedures that ane approgriate in the dreumstances, but ot for the purpose of expressing an opinkzn on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal contrel. An audit alse includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies uted and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Wi believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinign

In gur opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financlal position of Acasti Pharma Inc. as at February 28, 2014
and 2013, and is financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as |ssued by the International Acoounting Standards Baard.

Yl 723 2eP’
i

May 21, 2024
Montréal, Canada

*CPA sudtcr, CA, public somantancy parmNg ATITE
EFMG LLP is a Canadian lim#ed lisbikty parinership and a mambaer firm of the KFMG
metwiork of independent mambar firms affilisted with KPMG Intarnational Cooperatie
["EPMG International®), a Swiss ey,

PG Canada provides services ta KPMG LLP.
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Sraternents of Financial Position
February 28, 2014 and 2013

February 28, February 28,
2014 2013
AssEts
Current assets:
Cash 5 675490 5% 1,196,568
Short-term investmants (fote 17 (&) 23025951 3,588 227
Trade and ather receivables (note 4) 919,371 450,838
Receivable from corporation under commaon contral 49,658 49 658
Receivable from parent corparation 47,140 =
Tax credits recelvable (note &) 134120 35501
Inventories (note 7] 261431 222,125
Frepald expenses 703,497 15,681
15.816.658 5,859 608
Equipment [note 8) 38941 19278
Intangible assets [note 9) 19776204 6,291 162
Total assets 5 45531803 5 12,170,048
Liabilities and Equity
Current Nabilities:
Trade and other payables (nete 10 5 1,170,828 5 T06883
Fayable to parent corporation {note 5 (c)) = L1060+
Rovyalties payable to parent corporation (nole 18) = 528,885
1,170,828 2,446,372
Darivative warrant liabalitied (note 11 {d)) 11,181,475 =
Total liabilities 12,352,303 286372
Equity?
Share capital [note 11 (a)) B1,027.307 28,922,710
Warrants [nate 11 (d]) 406 657 £06 BET
Contributed surplus 3.501.587 438,711
Deficit {31,656,081) (20,044, 432)
Total equity 33,279,500 9, TR ETE
Comméments [note 15)
Subseguent event (nofe 22)
Total liabilities and equity 5 45631803 5 12,170,048

Sap socompanying notes ta financial statemants.

On behalf of the Board:

/5 Dr. Renald Denis

Dr, Ronald Denis
Chairman of the Board

i Valter Boivin

Walier Bolvin
Director
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Sratements of Earnings and Comprahendive Logs
¥ears ended February 28, 2014 and 2013

February 28, February, 18
2014 2013
Revanue from sabes 5 500,875 5 T24,196
Cost of sales (note 7} [291.853) {=06,371)
Gross profit 2008 317,825
General and administrative expenses (6,711,533) 14,288 5432
Research and development expenses, net of tax credits of 5269,591 (2043 - $370,258) [4.257.195) 12,009,016)
Results from operating activities {10,754, T06] {6,979, 733)
Finance income (note 13) 345 47,241
Fimance costs {note 13) [1.525.785) {2,685)
Forelgn exchange gain 781.586 42,817
Met finance (cost) income [811.943]) 873713
Net boss and total comprehensive loss for the year 5 (11,611,645%) 5 (B.892.360)
Basic and diluted loss per share [note 15) 5 [0.14) £ 10.08)
welghted average number of shares outstanding (nate 15) 84,368,933 72,754,436

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Sraternents of Changes in Equity
¥ears ended February 28, 2014 and 2013

1y ital Contributed
Number Dollar ‘Warrants surplus Dreficit Total
Balance, February 28, 2013 73107538 % 28922710 - 405,687 -1 438,711 5 [20.044,432) 5 8.T23676
Net boss and total comprehensive
lass for the year = = = = [11.611.64%) [11.611,649)
73,107,538 28,932,710 406 6587 438711 [31.656.081) {1,887 .973)
Transactions with ownars,
recorded directly in equity
Comtributions by and aistributions
10 CWIETS
Public offering (note 11(B]) 18,400,000 12,396,535 = = - 12,396,515
Private placement (mote 11 (c]) 1616542 2,067 605 = - = 2,067 605
lssumnee of shares an
rawalty prepayment (Rote 18] 6,750,000 15,496,000 = = - 15,496,000
Share-based payment
transactions (note 14) = = = 3,441,719 = 3,441,719
Warrants exercised (note 11 (d]) 5,432,150 1,358,088 - - - 1,358,048
Share options exercised (note 14) 296,500 402,288 - (84, 7E2) - 207 526
RS5Us released (note 14) 159,249 294,080 = (294,080) - -
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners ILTEEN 32,104,597 = 3,062 876 = 35,167 472

Balance at February 28, 2014 105852,179 5 61027307 5 406687 5 3500587 5 [(BLES56.081) 5 33379500

Balance, February 29, 20032 TIE35,588 4 2BE14,550 1 313,315 4 {1,206,451) 4 [13,152,072) 5 14,489 342
Met boss and total comprehensive
lass far the year — - . . (6.852,350) |6, 892, 360)
71,636,588 28,614,550 313,315 11,306,451) [20,044,432) 7.576,982
Transactions with awners,

recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions
to owners
Share-based payment

transacthons (note 14) - = #3372 1,823,845 = 1917217
Warrants exercised (note 11(d)) 353,150 88,289 - = = 48,289
Share options exercised (note 14) 117,500 219,871 = (78,6E3) = 141,188
Total contributions by and

distributions te owners 470,650 308,160 893372 1,745,162 e 2,146,654
Balance at February 28, 2013 73,107,538 5 28920710 & 408587 5 435,711 5 [I0044432) 5 ATIZETE

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

Statements of Cash Flaws
Years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013

Fabruary 28, Fabrusry 28,
2014 013
Cazh flows used in operating acthithes:
Pet loss for the year [11,611,84%) 5 65523600
Adpestments:
Deprécistion of sguipmant 5337 TEREG
Amartization of intangible avmet 1,768,500 657, 144
Stockbaned compeneation Faan19 L7217
et Baance cost [incama) B11,543 |87,373)
Ralined formign axchange |loss) gain [92,944) 13,669
[5,677,094) {3,384, 817)
Changes in non-cash operting working capital items:
Trade and other receiables (£68,531) (&, 1204
Recaivable from panest conporstion 47,140) -
Tax credits recehmable 201331 54,501
Ireantone: [30,308) 377,331
Prapaid e opasies [BEG,B06) 24,959
Trade and other payubles 483,545 (222, 779)
Payable to parent corpomation (417 167) 95,832
Foyakies payable to parent corperation (135 81T) 478, 801
(1,127 443) 1,835,925
Hat cath used in oparating activities [6,804,537T) 12,548,802
Cash flows feom [uad in] investing activitss:
IrETEst N aved 95,132 1,778
Acguisition of equipmant (25,000) =
Arguisition of intangible assets [123,6100 (103,068)
Acguisition of short-term investments (15,505 800 -
Maturity of thort-term imvestments 6 D00, B0 2,000,000
Mat caik (uied ) from mvedting sctivities [19446,27E) LERETID
Cadh flesws Tromn financiag sctivitier
Mes proceeds from pubilic offering (note 11 (B} 11,953,200 -
Hat proceeds from peivate placament (nete 11 (¢]) 1067605 =
Proceeds from aserciss of warrasts and optaang 972ATT 239477
Share issue costs (note 18) (29,0000 -
Interest pakd 1975 [2.685)
Met cash from Financing activities 4 963,007 236,792
Faraign axchanga gain on cath hald in fareign currencias 766, T30 0,148
Kt decriass in cash (511,07%) 1393.242)
Cadh, beginning of year 1,196,568 LEE0.810
Cash, end of year 675,450 5 1,196,588
Supple e ntal cak Moy disg ke
Biom cash Eransaclons:
bsuance of comman shares (note 18) 15,525,000 §
crpallies seltled thioegh
Fspance of shares (note 15) EL LY -
Acquisition of st angibls et {nole 15) 15,125,594 -
Exepcir of wairants by Keplune
applied agaimd pargable 793,437

SEE IOCOMPETing notes (o firan il datements
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ACASTI PHARMA INC.

MNotes ta Financial Statements
¥ears ended February 28, 2014 and 2013

2,

Reporting entity

Aeasti Pharma Inc. (the "Corperation”™) i incorporated under the Business Corparations At (Oudbec) formerly Part 1A of the Companies det
(Québec)]. The Corporation i domiciled in Canada and its registered office is located at 545, Promenade du Centropalis, Laval, Québec,
H7T 0A3. The Corparation is a subsidiary of Neptune Technologies and Bioressources Inc. (*Meptune”) (the Corporation, the parent and
MNeuraBiaPharm Inc., a sidter corporation, collsctively referred to as the “group”).

On August 7, 2008, the Corporation commenced operations after having acquired from Meptune an exclugive worldwide license to use its
intellectual property to develop, clinically study and market new pharmaceutical products to treat human cardiovascular conditions.
Meptune’s intellectual property is related to the extraction of particular ingredients from marine biomasses, such as krill. The eventual
products are almed at applications In the over-the-counter medicne, medical fecds and prescription drug markets.

Operations essentially consist in the development of new produects and the conduct of clinical reseanch studies on animals and humans.

Admtst all reseanch and develapment, administration and capital expenditunes incurred by the Corparation since the stam of the operatisns
are asociated with the project described above.

The Corporation is subject to a number of risks asociated with the successful development of new products and their marketing, the
canduct of its clinical studies and their results, the meeting of development objectives set by Neptung in its license agreement, and the
establishment of strategic alliances. The Corparation has incurted significant operating losses and negative cash Flaws from operations since
inception, To date, the Corporation has financed its operations through public offering and private placement of common shares, proceeds
from exercises of wamants, rights and options and research tax credits. To achieve the objectives of its business plan, the Corporation plans
to establish strategic alllances, ratse the necessary capital and make sakes. It is anticipated that the preducts developed by the Corporation
will require approval from the U.5 Foed and Drug Administration and equivalent organizations in other countries befare their sale can be
authorized, The ability of the Corporation to ultimately achieve profitable operations is dependent on a number of factors cutside of the
Corperathon’s contral.

Basis of preparation

{a) Statement of compliance:

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards [*IFRS"] as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“1A587),

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 21, 2014,

b)) Basis of measurement:
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basks, except for:

*  Steck-based compensation which is inftially measured at fair value as detailed in Note 2(f) (iil: and,

*  Derivative warrant liabilithes measured at fair value on a recurring basts [note 12(B)).
{c)  Functional and presentation currency:

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dellars, which i the Corporations functional currency,
{d) Use of estimates and judgments:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 1o make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Aztual results may differ from thewe astimates,

Estimates are based on the management's best knowledge of current events and actions that the Corporation may undertake in the
future. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the
peried inwhich the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Critical judgments i applying accounting polickes that have the most significart effect on the amsounts recognized (n the financial
stabements include the following:

* Identification of triggering events indicating that the intangible assets might be impaired (Nate 2 (2) [ii)).
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Basis af preparation [continued):

(dy  Use of estimates and judgments jcontinued]:

The use of the going concern basic of preparation of the financial statements. AL each reparting period, Management steses the
basis of preparation of the financial statements. These financial statements have been prepared on & going concern basis in
accordance with IFRS, The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue its operatians for the
farecesable futwre and be sble to realize it sisets and dischange its liabilities and commitments in the normal cowrse of butiness,

Astumiptions and estimation uncertainties that have asignificant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the nest finandal year
include the following:

-
-

Measuremant of derivative warrant liabilities (Note 11 (b)) and stock-based compensation [Note 14).
Allocation of shared costs amongst the Neptune group companies (Mote 5.

Abio, management uses judgment to determine which research and development ["RED") expenses qualify for RED tax credits and in what
amounts, The Corparation recognizes the tax credits ance it has reasonable assurance that they will be realized. Recorded tax cradits are

subject

o rewiew and approval by tax authosities and therefione, could be different fram the amaunts recorded.

Significant accounting poliches:
The accounting policies set cut below have been applied consistently to all years presentad in these financial statements.

(3} Financial instrumants:

0]

1]

Hon-derivative finandal assets:
The Corporation has the following non-derivative financlal assets: cash, short-term investments and receivables,
The Corparatian initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are ariginated,

The Corparation derecognizes a financal asset when the contractual rights to the cash Alows from the asset expire, or it transfers
thae rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the finandal asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that i created or retained by the
Corparation is recognized as a separate asset or labdlity,

Financial assets and liabllitkes are offset and the net amount presented in the statements of financial position when, and only
when, the Corporatian has a legal right to offset the amaunts and intends either to settle on a net basks or te realize the asset and
sattle the liabilty simultaneously.

Laans and feceivalbles

Laans and receivables are financisl astats with fived or determinable payrents that are not quated in an sctive market. Such adoetd
are recognized initially at fair valee plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent te initial recognition, loans and
risceivablies ane measuried at amamizied cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment Dises

Loans and receivables comprise cash, short-term inwestments, and receivables with maturities of less than ane year,

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and highly Nouid investments purchased three manths or less from maturity.,
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and farm an integral part of the Corparation’s cash management are included as a
companent af cash and cash equivalents far the purpase of the statements af cash flaws.
Naon-derivative financial liabilzies:

The Carparation initially recognites debe securities iswed and subordinated labilities on the date that they are ofiginated.

The Corparation derecognizes a financial Rability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

Thi Carparation has the following nan-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables and payables to parent corporation.

Such financial Babilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these finandal liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
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Significant accounting policies jeontinued):

{al Financial instruments (continuad);

by

s}

i

Share capital:
Comman shares

Class & eommon shares are cissified a5 equity. Incremental eosts directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share
options ane recagnized as.a deduction froem equity, net of any tax effecs.

Preference share capital

Praference share capital & classified as equity if it is non-redeemakble, or redeemable only at the Corporation's option, and any
dividends are discrationary. Dividends thereon are recognized as distributions within equity.

Prafarance share capital is classfied as a liability if it & redeemable on a spedfic date or at the option of the shareholdars, or if
dridend payments are not discretionary. Dividends therean are recognized s interest expense in profit or less a5 accnied.

Compaund financial instruments:

The liability companent of a compaund financial instrument is recognized initially at the fair valoe of a similar lability that does not
have an equity converdon option. The equity companent 14 recognized initially as the difference between the fair value of the
compound finandal instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability companent. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability companent of a compound financial instrument is measurad at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured subsequent to inial
recagnitian,

Iriterest, dividends, losses and gains relating to the financial liabiliny are recognized in peofit or loss. Distributions to the egquity
holdirs are recognized in equity, net of any tax benefi.

Derivative financial instruments:

The Corporation has Esued liability-classified derivatives over its own equity. Derivatiees are recognized initially at fair value;
attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit and loss as incurred.  Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are
measured at fair value, and all changes in their fair value are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

(v} Orther eguity instruments:

Warrants, aptions and rights Bssed outside of share-based payment transactions that do nat meet the definition of a derivative
financial instrument are recagnized in squity.

Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of raw materials i based on the weighted-average cost
method. The cost of finkhed goods and work in progress i determined per project and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the
inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing lecation and condition, as wall as
production averheads based on normal operating capacity,

Met realizable value is the estimated selling price in the erdnary course of business, less the estimated casts of completian and selling
BAPBALES,
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Significant accounting policies jeontinued):

{c) Equipmant:

(i}

1]

(i}

Recognition and measurement:
Equipment is measured at cost bess accurmulated depredation and accumulated impairment losses,

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the scquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes
the cost af materials and direct labaur, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use, the costs of dismantling and remaving the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and barrowing
oosts on qualifying asset,

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

When parts of an eguipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items major companents) of
equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of equipment are determined by comparing the procesds from disposal with the carmang amount of
eguipment, and are recognized net within “ather income oF experces™ in ﬂfﬂflt ar lass.

Subsequent costs:

The cost of replacing a part of an equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation, and its codt can be medsured refiably. The carrying
amaunt of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of equipment are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred,

Dapraciation:

Depreciation is recognized in prafit or boss on either a strakght-line basis or a declining basis over the estimated wseful lhves of sach
partof an iwem of equipment, since this most clasely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits
embodied in the asaer

The estimated useful lives and rates for the current and comparative years ara as follows:

Assats Methad Period [Rate
Furniture and affice equipment Declining balanoe 200 to 30%
Compauter equipment straight-line 3 -Ayears

Depreciation methods, wseful lves and residual values are reviewed at each finandal year-end and adjusted prospectively if
appropriate.,
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Significant accounting policies {continued):

(d} Intangible assets:

0]

|}

Research and devalopment:

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding. is recopnized in profit ar loss as mcurred.

Development activities involve & plan or design for the praduction of new or substantially improved products and processes,
Development expenditune is capitalized anly if develag coits ean be measured reliably, the praduct or prociss is technically
and commércially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Corparation intends to and has sufficient resources to
complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expanditure capitalized includes the cost of materials, direct labaur,
averhiead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for it intended uie, and borrawing costs on qualifying assets.
Other development expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred,

Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost bess accumulated amartization and accumulated impairment lasses, As of
the reparting years presented, the Corparation has not capitalized any develspment expanditure,

Other intangible assets:
Livenses

Licenises that are acquired by the Corporation and have finite wseful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses,

Patent costs

Patents for technologles that are no longer in the research phase are recerded at cost Patent costs include legal fees to obtain
patents and patent apphcation fees, When the technology i still in the research phase, those costs are expensed as incurred,

Subsequent expenditure:

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized anly when it increases the future sconomic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which
it relates. All other expenditures, including expenditure on internally penerated goodwill and brands, are recognized in profit or loss
as incurred,
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Significant accounting policies jeontinued):

[d} Intangible assets {continued]:

[} Amartization:

Amartizatien |s calculated over the cast of the asset less its residual value,

Amartization is recagnized in prafic of loss on a straight-Ene basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets from the date
that they are svailsble for use, since this most dosely reflects the expected pattern of eansumptian of the future economic benefits
embadied in the asset The estimated weful lives for the current and comparative years are as fallaws:

Assats Period
Licarse &to 14 years
Patents 20years

&) Impairment:

[}

Financial assets [induding receablesk:

A financial asset not carned at fair value through profit or koss ks assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is
objective evidence that it & impaired. A finangial asset is impaired If objective evidence indicates that a loss event has ccourred
after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated futwre cash flows of that
asset that can be estimated rekably,

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinguency by a debtor, restructuring af an amount
due ta the Carporation on terms that the Carporation would not condider otherwise, indicationd that & debtor of isuer will @nter
bankruptcy, or the disappearance of an active market for a security.

The Corparation considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level All individually
significant recaivables are assessed for specific impairmant. Al individualby significant recevables found not to be specifically
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impalnment that has been incurred but not yet identified, Receivables that are not
individually significant are collect vely assessad for impairment by grouping together recaivables with similar risk characteristics.

Im assessing collective impairment, the Corporation uses histarical trends of the prebabdity of default, timing of recoveries and the
amount of kess incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as t whether current economic and credit conditians ane such that
the actual kodses are likely to be greater or ks than suggested by historical trends,

An imipairment a4 in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized codt is calculated as the defference betwen S Sarrying
amaunt snd the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted st the swets original effective interedt rate. Lodtes
are recognized in profit or bess and reflected in an allowance account against receivables, Whaen a subsequent event causes the
amaunt of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment los is reversed through profit or less.

Nan-financial assets:

The carrying amounts of the Corparation’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and tax credits receivable are reviewed at
eath reporting date to determine whether there |s any indication of impairment. f any such indication exists, then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated.
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3. Significant accounting policies {continued):

(e} Impairment {continued):

(i)

Hon-financial assets (continuad):

The recowerable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flaws are discounted to their presant value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market sisediments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the aiet. For the purpede of impaifment
testing, assets that cannat be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest growp of assers that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of ather assets or groups of assets [the “cash-generating uni,
ar CEU").

Thie Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there i an indication that a corporatie asset may be
impaired, then the recoverable amouwnt s determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belangs,

An impalrment loss is recognized If the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Irnpairment bsses are recagnized in prafit or boss.

Impairment losses recognized in prios years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the lass has decreased or
no langer exists. An impairment loss ts reversed if there has been 3 change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed anly to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation of AmMarnization, if no impairment lods had been recognized.

if) Employes benefits:

i}

Short-term employes benefits:

Shot-term employes benefit obligatians are measured on an undiscounted bask and are expensed as the related servioe is
provided.

A lisbility s recognized for the amount expacted to be paid under shert-term cash banus of prafit-shasing pland if the Corporatian
has a present legal ar constructive obligation to pay this amaunt as a result of past service provided by the employes, and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Lhare-based payment transactions;

The grant data fair value of share-based paymant awards granted to amployees b recognized as an employes expansa, with a
corresponding Increasa in contributed surpdus, over the peried that the employees uncanditionally become entitled to the awards.
The grant date fair value takes into consideration market performance conditions when applicable. The amount recognized as an
expense i adjusted to reflect the number of awards far which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized &% an expénie i based on the number of swards that do meet the relited
service and non-market performance conditions st the vesting date.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Corparstion received goods of services as conudderation for its awn equity
instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of how the equity instrumants are
abtained by the Corporation.

Share-based payment transactions include thase initiated by Neptuna for the benefit of administrators, officers, employess and
consultants that provide services to the consolidated group, The Corparatien b under no obligation to settle these arrangements
and, therefore, also accounts for them as equity-settled share-based payment transactions,

The expense umﬂed by the Carporation under these ATTANGe Mments cofresponds to the estimated fraction of services that the
grantees provide to the Carporation out of the total services they provide to the Neptune group of corporations.
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Significant accounting policies jcontinued):
Il Employes banefits (continued):
(Wi} Termination benefits:

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Corporation ts committed demaonstrably, withaut realistic possibiiny of
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination
benedits a5 a result of an offer made to encoursge volurtary redundancy. Termination benefins for voluntary redundancies are recognized
as an expende if the Corparation has made an offer of valuntary redundancy, it i probable that the affer will be accepted, and the
number of scceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 manths after th reporting year, then they ane
dizcaunted to their prasent value.

() Provisions:

o1

[

A provision s recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an ouvtflow of economic benafits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflacts current market assessments of the time value
of raney and the risks specific to the Rability. The unwinding of the discaunt is recognized as finance ceost.

O oS CONTTACcts:

& pmnislon for anenous cantracts is necng;nlaed when the expected benefits to be derived b‘ffhf_‘ Corporation fram a contract are
lewer than the unsvaidable cost af eeting s obligations under the contract. The pravision is measured at the present value af
the lower of the expacted cost of terminating the contract and the axpected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a
prmis.inn is established, the Cﬂfpﬂl’it‘lﬁﬁ rmrﬁ!t! H‘I'fin‘lp.l|rrnlﬂf loss on the asiets associated with that contract.

Cantingent labilicy:

A contingent llability |s a possible obligation that arses from past events and of which the existence will be confirmed anly by the
QOCUFTERGE OF Non-ocourfence of ane of mMofe uncertain future events not within the contral of the Corporation; of A present
obligation that arises from past events (and therefore exists), but is not recognized because it is not probable that a transler of use
of aisets, pravision of Servioes of ary ather transfer of ecanomic benefits will be required to settle the abligation; or the amaunt of
the obligation canmot be estimated reliably.

Revenui:

0]

Sale of goods:

Revenue fram the sale of goods in the cowrse of ardinary acthvities s measwred at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of returns. Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of cwnership have been transferred to the
buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goads can be estimated reliably, there
s o continuing management invahemant with the gaods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable
that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue
&5 the sales are recoginized.

The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending an the individual terms of the contract of sale,
Research services:

Revenue from research contracts is recognized in profit or loss when services to be provided are rendered and all conditions under
the terms of the undertying agreement are met

Government grants:

Government grants consiting of investment tax credits are recorded a5 & reduction of the related expense or cost of the asset sequired.
Government grants ane recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Corporation has met the requirements of the approved
grant program and there is restanable assurance that thee grant will be received.
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Significant accounting policies {eontinued):

i

it}

in

im]

Government grants (continued]:

Grants that compensate the Corporation for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss in reduction thereof on a systematic basis
in the same years in which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate the Corparation for the cost of an asset are recognized
in profit or koss on a systematic basls over the useful Iife of the asset.

Liease payrments:
Payments made under opersting leates are recognized in profit or lods on & straight-line Badis over the term of the leade. Lease

incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expende, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance lkeases are appertioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the
outstanding Bability, The finance axpense is allocated to sach year during the lease tarm 50 a5 to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lability,

Cantingent lease payments are accounted for in the year in which they are incurred,

Foreign Curremoy:

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currendy at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Manetary sisets and liabilities derominated in foreign curnencied at the reporting date are retrandlated to the functianal currency at the
axchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items i the difference betwean amortized cost in the
functional currency at the beginning of the panod, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the peried, and the amortized
cost in foredgn currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Foreign currency differences arising on
retranslation are recognized in profit or loss.

Finance income and finance costs:

Finance income comprises inberest income on funds invested, Interest income is recognized as it acorues in profit o loss, using the
affectivie interest method.

Finance costs comprise intersst expense on barrowings, urwinding of the discount on provigiens, changes in the fair value of financial
derbative labilties at fair valoe through profit or loss, and impairment lesses recognized on financial assets. Borrowing costs that are
nat directly attnbutable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or koss using the
affectivee intarest mathod.

Forelgn currency fains and bosses are reparted on a net basks.

The Corparation recognizes interest income as a component of investing activities and interest expense as a companent of financing
acthvities in the statements of cash flaws.

Incaime Bax:

Incame tax expense comprises current and deferred taves. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit ar lods except to the
extent that they relate to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income,

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income er loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
anacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respact of previous years.
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Significant accounting policies jeontinued):

{m] Income tax [continued]):

in

CH]

{1}

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and Habilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, Deferred tax is not recognized for temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or Nabdlities in a transaction that &5 not a business combdnation and that affects nelther accounting nor
taxable profit or loss, Deferred taa s measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the repoming date. Deferred tax assets and babilities are
offset if there is a legally enforceable rnght to offset current tax labilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same
tax authority on the same taxable entity, of on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current thx labilities and siset4 on & net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simult be. A deferred vax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, ta
credits and deductible ternporary differences, ta the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
thiny can be utilived. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at @ach reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it i no longer probable
that tha related tax benefit will be realized,

Eamnings per share:

The Carporation presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS™) data for its Class & shares. Basic EPS i cakculated by dividing the
profit ar loss attributable to the holders of Class A shares of the Corporation by the weighted average number of commaon shares
outstanding during the year, sdjusted for own shares held. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the prafit or less attributable to the
hakders of Class A shares and the weighted sverage nember of Class A shares outstanding, adjusted for awn shares held, for the effects
of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise warrants, rights and share options granted to employess.

Segment reporting:
An operating segment |s a companent of the Corporation that engages In business activitles from which [t may earn revenues and intur

expenses. The Corporation has one reportable cperating segment: the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical
applications of its beensed rights for cardiovascular diseases, The majosity of the Corperation’s assets are located in Canada,

Changes in accounting policies:
Actounting changes in 2014:
(i} Fair value measurement:

IFRS 13, Falr Value Measurement, replaces the fair value measurement guidance contalned in individual IFRS with a single source of
fair value measurement guidance, It defines fair value as the price that would be received to sall an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, Le. an ext price. The application of the
IFRS 13 did not have a material impact an the financial statements.

Future accounting changes:

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective for the year ended February 28,
2014, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements,

i} Financial mstruments:

IFRS 8, Fingncial Instruments, was issued in Movembar 2005, It addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial lkabilities, In Mowvember 2013, the 1458 ksued a new general hedge accounting standard, which forms part of IFRS 9
Financiel instruments (2013). The new standard remaves the January 1, 2015 pricr effective date of IFRS 9. The new mandatory
effective date will be devermined once the classfication and measurernent and impairment phases of IFRAS 9 are finakized. The
mandatary effective date is not yet determined, however, sarly adoption of the new dard is still permitted. In February 2014,
& ventative decidion established the mandatory effective application for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, The
Corparation has not yat assessed the impact of adoption of IFRS @ and does not intend to early adopt IFRS 9 in its financial
shatermernts.
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5

Trade and other recehvables:

February 28, February 28,

2014 2013

Trade recevables 4 395,128 5 175420
Sales tames receivable 54,243 92213
Recrued and other receivabley - 183,205
4 919,371 4 450,838

Thae Corperation’s axposure to credit and currency risks relsted to trade and other recevables is prasentad in Note 17,

Related parthes:
{al

Adminktrative and research and development expenses:

The Carporation was charged by Neptune for cartain costs incurred by Neptune for the benefit of the Corporation and for royalties, as
Tallaws:

February 28, February 28,

2014 2013

Adminktrative costs 4 1,037,766 5 943,264
Research and development costs, before tax credits 545,908 678439
Ravalties (nate 18) 128,219 450,342
H 1,811,893  § 207Z.045

ibl

e

id

‘Where Neptune incurs specific incremental costs for the benefit of the Corporation, i changes those amounts directly. Costs that benefit
more than one entity of the Neptune group are charged by allocating a fraction of costs incurred by Neptune that is commensurate to
the estimated fraction of services or benefits recaived by sach entity for those items,

These charges do not represent all charges incurred by Meptune that may have benefited the Corporation, because, amongst athers,
Neptune does not allacate certain comman office expenses and does not charge Interest an indebtedness. Alse, these charges do not
necessarily represant the cost that the Corporation weuld otherwse need to incur, should it not recetve these services ar benefits
through the shared resources of Neptune of receive financing from Neptune. As at February 28, 2014, an amount of $320,349 is
inchuded in prepaid expenses relating to these charges (il in 2003).

Rsvenue firam sales:

The Corporation recognized sales to Neptune in the amaunt of nil during the year ended February 28, 2004 (541,000 in 2013). These
tramsactions are in the nermal course of operations,

Fayables to parent corporation:
Payables to parent corporation had no specified maturity date for payment or reimbursement and did not bear interest.
Key management personnel compensation:

The key management persannel of the Corperation are the members of the Board of Directers and certain officers. They contrel 2% of
the voting shares of the Corporation [3%in 2013),
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5 Relsted parties (continued):

{d} Key management personnel compensation [continued):
Eey management personnel compensation includes the following for the vears ended February 28, 2004 and 2013

February 28, February 28,

2014 2013
Shart-term employes benefits L] B30, 565 % RDE596
Share-based compentation costs 2,435,254 1,504,471

5 1069.823 5 2,311,067

B, Tax eredits recehvable:

Tax credis comprise research and development investrent tax credits receivable from the provincial government which relate to qualifiable
resparch and development expenditures under the applicable tax laws. The amounts recorded as receivables are subject to a government tax
audit and the final amaunts received may dilfer from those recorded.

Unrecognized federal tax credits may be used to reduce future income tax and expire as follows:

2028 $ 1,000
2030 A0,000
2031 45,000
2032 431,000
2033 442,000
2034 440,000

§ 1,408,000

7. Inventories:

February 28, February 28,

2014 2013

Raw materials s 39753 & 44,772
Work in progress 219,553 1,033
Finished goods 2085 176,320
5 261431 % 222135

For the year ended February 28, 2014, the cost of sales of 5291853 [$406,371 in 2013) was comprised of inventory costs of 5284410
[5391,821 in 2013} which consisted of raw materisls, changes in work in progress and finished goods, and other costs of 57,443 [$14,550 in
2013),
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8, Equipment:
Furniture
and office Computer Depasit an
equipment  equipment equipment Total

Cost:
Balance at February 29, 2012 and February 28, 2013 5 58,706 5 3651 5 - L

62,397
Additians = = 25,000 25,000
Balance at February 28, 2014 58,706 3,551 25,000 87,397
Accurmulated depreciation:
Balance at Februarny 19, 2012 32781 2,452 - 35,233
Depreciation for the year 6,952 934 - 7 E8&
Balance at February 28, 2013 39,733 3326 - 43,119
Depreciation for the year 5,032 305 = 5337
Balance at February 28 2014 5 44,765 5 3651 5 - 5 48456
Met carnying amounts:

February 28, 2013 ] 18,573 b1 05 5 = 5 19278

Fabruary 28, 2014 13,941 - 25,000 38841

Depredation expense far the years ended Febeuary 28, 20014 and Febreary 28, 2013 has been recorded in “general and adminisirative
expRntes” in thee statements of sarnings and comprehentive lads.

3, Intangible assets:

Patents LEDE e Total

Cast:
Balance at February 29, 2012 5 = 59,200,000 59,200,000
Additions 103,068 = 103,068
Balance at February 28, 2013 103,068 9,200,000 9,303,068
Additians note 18] 123,610 15,125,932 15,253,542
Balanoe at February 28, 2014 226,678 24,329.532 24556610
Aceurnilated amortization:
Balance at February 29, 2012 = 2,354,762 2,354,762
Amaortization for the year - 657,144 657 144
Balance at February 18, 2013 - 3.015,506

3,011,906
Amartization for the year 06 1,767,594 1,768,500
Balance at Felbruary 28, 2014 5 06 $4.779.500 5

4,780,106
Net carrying amounts:

February 28, 2013 % 103,068 46,188,094 & 6291162

February 28, 2004 225,772 19,550,432 19776204

Amortization expense for the years ended February 28, 2034 and February 28, 2013 has been recorded in “general and administrative expenses™
In the statements of earnings and comprehansie loss,
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10. Trade and other payabiles:

11,

Fetiruary 28, February 28,

2014 2013

Trade payables 4 319,683 5 3315
Apcrued babilites and other payables 613,516 160,572
Employes 4alaries and benefits payable 237,619 221,1%

$ 1,170,828 § 706,883

Tha Corporation’s axposurs to currency and liguidity risks related to trade and other payables i presented in Note 17,

Capital and other companents of equity

{a} Share capatal:

Authorized capital tack:

Unkmited numiber of shares:

=

=

Class A shares, voting (one vote per share), partidpating and withaut par valuse

Class B shares, vating [ten votes per share), non-participating, without par value and maximum annual non-cumulathe
dividend of 5% on the amount paid for said shares. Class B shares are convertible, at the holder's discretion, into Class A
shates, on & ene-for-one bass, and Class B shares are redeemable at the holder's discretion for $0.80 per share, subject wo
certain conditions. !

Class C shares, non-voting, non-participating, without par value and maxirum annual non-cumulative dividend of 5% on the
amount paid for said shares. Class C shares are convertible, at the holder's discretion, into Class A shares, an a one-for-one
basis, and Class C shares are redeemable at the holder's discretion for 50,20 per share, subject to certain conditions, |

Class O and E shares, non-voting. non-participating, without par value and maximum menthly non-cumulative dividend
betwaen 0.5% and 2% on the amount paid for said shares. Class D and E shares are conwertible, at the helders discretion, into
Class A shares, on a ane-for-one basis, and Class D and E shares are redeemable at the holder's discretian, subject to certain
conditians. '

*Kone lssued and cutstanding

Class A shares
|classified as equity)

Humbir
autitanding Armurnt
Balance February 28, 2014 105,862,179 £61,027,307
Balance Fobruary 28, 2003 73,107 538 28,922 710
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11. Capitaland other componerts of equity {eantinued):

b} Public offering:

5]

On December 3, 2013, the Corporation dhased a public offering Bsuing 18400,000 units of Acasti (“Units”) at a peice of US51.25 per Unit
far gross proceeds of 524,452,700 (US523,000,000). Each Unit consists of one Class A share and one Comman Share purchase warrant
("Warrant™) of Acasti, Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase ome Class A share at an exercise price of US51.50, subject to
adjustment, at any time wntl December 3, 2018,

The Warrants farming part of the Units are derivative Mabilities ["Derivative warrant Mabdlities”) for accounting purposes due 1o the
currenty of the exercie price being different from the Corparation’s functional currenay. The proceeds of the offering are required to be
split between the Dertvative warrant liabilithes and the equity-classified Class A share at the time of isuance of the Units. The fair value of
the Derdvative warrant liabilities at the time of Bsuance was determined to be 510,674,045 and the residual of the proceeds was allocated
to the Class A share. Total issue costs related to this transaction amounted to 52,539,500, The issua costs have been allocated between
the Warrants and Class A shares based on relative value, The portion allocated to the Warrants was recognized in finance costs whareas
the portien allecated to Class A shares was recognized as a reduction to share capital,

The fair valwe of the public offering warrants 2014 was estimated according to the Black-Schakes option pricing madel and based on the
fallowing assumptions:

Februsary 28, 2014 Decembaer 3, 2013

Exarcise price Us51 50
US41.50

Share price 51.27
41,23

Deredend = =

Reisk-frese imterest La1% 1.40%
Estimated Iife A.76 years 5.00 years
Expicted walatility GEATH B7.62%

The fair value of the Wamrants |ssued was determined to be $0.58 per warrant upen issuance and 5061 per warrans as at Febeuary I8,
2014, Changes in the fair valee of the Warrants are recognized in finance costs,

Private placemant 2004:

On February 7, 2014, the Corporation desed a private placement finandng for gress procesds of 52,150,000 fram The Fiera Capial
Q550 |l Investment Fund Inc. for 1,616,542 Units at 51.33 per Unit. Esch Unit coniists of one Clasd A share and one Common Share
purchase warrant [“Warrant") of Acasti. Each Warrant entitles the halder to purchase one Class A share 3t an exercise price of $1.60,
subject to adjustmaent, at any time until December 3, 2008 The Class A shares and Warrants are equity-classified for accounting
purposes. The procesds were allocated to Share Capital. Total isue costs related to this trandaction amaunted to S82, 395 and were
recognized as a reduction to share capital,
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11. Capital and other companents of equity jcontinued]:
{d) Warrants:
The warrants of the Corporation are compesed of the following as at February X8, 2014 and February 28, 2013;

February 28, February 28,
2014 2013
Number Mumber
autstanding Bamount aurstanding Asmaurt
Liabifity
Sefied 8 Public offering warrants 2004 (b) 18,400,000 % 11,181,475 - % -
18,400,000 11,181,475 - -
Equity
Series 4 warrants - - 5,432,350 -
Private plaement warrants
Series 9 Private placement warrants 2014 (c] 1616,5492 - - -
Sefies & warfants 375,000 306, 258 375,000 3045, 288
Series 7 warrants 375,000 100,353 375,000 100,353

2366,542 & ADGGET 6182350 5 406687

- Series 4 allowed the holder to purchase ane Class A share for 50,25 per share untll October 8, 2003, During the year ended February
28, 2014, 5,432,350 warrants (353,150 im 2013) have been exerdsed for a total consideration of 51,358,088 (SB8.289in 2013).

- Series 6 allows the holder to purchase ane Class & share for 51.50 per share wnti February 10, 2015,

- Sefies 7 allows the holder to purchase one Class & share for $1.50 per share until February 10, 2015 subject to the schievement af
cartain agread upon and predefined milestanes. Sefies 7 warrants afe subject to vesting in aqual installmants over fowr sefmesters,
subject to continued service and attainment of market |[187 500 warrants] and non-=market performance conditions (187,500
wirrants). The Corporation recognized an expense of nil for this grant for the year ended February 28, 2014 ($93,372 in 2013).
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12, Personnel expenses:

February 28, February 28,
2014 2013
Salaries and other shast-tarm employes benefits 5 1,368,141 S 1486351
Share-based compensation 3,423.243 187124
4 4,791 384 4 3,357 615
Share-based compensation does not inclede 518,476 (2013 - 545,993) of compensation to consultants.
13, Finance income and finance costs:
{a) Fimance income:
Fabruary 28, February 28,
2014 2013
Interest income 5 32256 s a7mMl
(b} Finance cens:
February 28, February 28,
2014 2013
Interast charges 5 [375) 5 [2885)
Warrants issue cost (Mate 11 (b)) (1,117,380}
Change in fair value of Derivative warrant liabilises (Note 11 (bl [507 430}
5 (1,625,785 5 12,685)
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14. Share-based payments:

At February 28, 2014, the Corporation has the following share-based payment arrangements:

(al

Corparation stock option plan:

The Carparation has established a stock option plan for directors, officers, employess and consultants of the group. The plan provides
far the granting of aptions to purchase Acasti Class A shares, The exercise price of the stack options gramted under this plan is net lower
than the clesing price of the shares listed on the eve of the grant. Under this plan, the maximum number of options that can be issued is
1056 of Acasti Class A shares held by public shareholders, & approved annually by such shareholders. On June 27, 2013, the
Carparation’s sharehalders approved the renewal of the Corporation stock aption plan, under which the masimum number of aptians
that can be issued i 7,317,128, corresponding to 10% of the shares outstanding as of the date of sharehalders” approval. The terms and
conditions far acquiring and exercising options are et by the Carparation’s Board of Directors, subject, amang others, 1o the following
limitations; the term of the options cannot excesd ten years and avery stock option granted under the stock option plan will be subject
to conditions no bess restrictive than a minimal westing period of 18 months, a gradwal and egqual acquisition of vesting rights at keast on
a quarterly basis. The total number of shares issued to a single person cannot exceed 5% of the Corporation’s total isswed and
autstanding shares, with the maximum being 2% for any ane consukant,

Activities within the plan are detailed as fallows:

Year ended Fear ended
Eeirupy 25 2014 Eeuryary 26, 2073

Weghted Weghted

verage average
A Kumnbes of FE Tt Kumnber or
arice ] price Gplios
Cutstanding at beginaing of yeas H 155 5,216,250 4 115 3,347,500
Grasted 123 297,500 114 2,350,000
Exercised 1.37 {256, 500) 1.3 {117.500§
Forfeied 2106 {306, 250 180 (363, 7500
Cutstanding a1 end ol yes 5 157 4,911,000 5 155 5,216,250
[xercisable at end of year 5 1.39 3,41 21165 r] 114 1 AX1EE2
214
Lot pm st fowiemegntony

Weghted Weighed
Emaining Mumbser of AT Humser of
contractual life ootions ERETCISE price aptons
Exercise peice outstasding aitind g - exprcisable
0.25 - 51.00 4564 EHE.500 s HE2,500
5101 - 5150 2.30 1,991.250 1.40 1,701,250
F1.51- 5200 076 115,000 180 100,000
201 -5250 143 2,051.000 13 #3415
52.51-52.75 180 TL.250 175 35,00
185 4,511,000 13 3,412,165
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14. Share-based payments {continued):

{a} Corporation stock-based compensation plan {continuedf

(]

The fair value of options granted has been estimated according to the Black-Scholes option pricing medel and basad an the weighted
averaga of the following assumptions for options granted during the year;

2014 2013
Exercise prioe 4223
$2.14
Share price 5188
£2.13
Dividend = =
Risk-frie intenest 111% 1.3
Estimated Ife 2,45 years 4,04 years
e ctid walatil ity 51.81% 71.48%

The weighted sverage of the fair value of the options granted o employess during the year ended February 28, 2004 is 50,67 (2013 -
41.14). There were na options granted to non-employess during thee years ended Februarg 28, 2014 and 2003,

Thi weighted awerage share price at the date of exarcise for share options exercised during the year ended February 28, 2014 was 53.77
(2013 - 52.44). The partion of services employees provided to the Conporation was estimated to be 45% of services provided to the group
(2013 - 50%). Accordingly, stock-based compansaticn recognized under this plan amaunted to $501,479 for the year ended February 28,
2014 (2013 - $877,690).

Corporation equity incentive plan:

I May 2013, the Board of Directors approved an equity incentive plan for employees, directors and consultants of the group which was
subject to the approval of the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX") and the sharehalders of Acasti. The plan was subsequently approved by the
T5% and the shareboldery’ approval was obtained on June 27, 2013, The plan provides for the Bsuance of restricted share wnits,
performance share units, restricted shares, deferred share units and other share-based awards, under restricted conditions as may be
detarmined by the Board of Directors. Upoen fulfillment of the restricted conditions, as the cases may be, the plan provides for setthement
of the award theough shares.

On June 27, 2013, the Corperation granted to board members, executive officers, employees and consultants of the group a total of
1,060,000 Restrictive Share Units (the “APO RSUS") under the Corparation Equity Incentive Plan. APO RSUs will vest gradually overtime
with an expiry date of ne later than lameary 15, 2017, based on a specific rate, depending an each holder's categary, but sisty percent
(606E) of such awards will weit upon achisvement of the perfarmance abjectives identified by the Corporation. Performance objectives
are based in part on the Corparation's specific and glabal goals, bue ala on eath halder's individual perfarmance. The fair value of the
APO RSUs i detarminged to be the share price at date of grant and is recognized as stock-based compaensation, through contributed
surplus, ower the vesting period. Thi fai value of the RSUS granted was 52,89 per unit

Activities within the plan are datailed as follows:

HMumber of ASU
Qutstanding at March 1, 2013 -
Grantad 1,060,000
Released (259,299)
Forfeited [25,750)
Qurstanding at February 28, 2014 775,001

The partion of services employess provided to the Corporation was estimated to be 44% of sarvices provided to the group. Accardingly,
stock-based compentation recognized under this plan amounted to 5745 556 for the year ended Fabruary 28, 2014,
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14. Share-based payments {eontinued):

{c) Heptune stock-based compansation plan:

Heptune maintains various stock-based compensation plans for the benefit of administrators, officers, employees and consultants that
provide services to It consolidated graup, including the Corporation. The Corporation records as stock-based Compensation expense a
partian of the expense being recorded by Neptune that b commensurate to the fraction of overall sarvices that the grantees provide
directly ta the Carparation.

i}

|}

Heptune stock options:

During the year ended February 28, 3014, Neptune granted 1,640,000 Meptune stock options to group employees (2013 -
5,520,000). The options granted are vesting aver a period of 18 manths, subject to continued service. The fair value of the options
granted has bean estimated according to the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following weighted average
assumptiong:

2014 2013
Exercise price 5311 53.23
Share price 52,94 53,06
Dividend yield - -
Risk-free interest rate 0.50% 1.15%
Estimated life 1.99 years 2.71 years
Expictied wolatility G AX5 65, 18%

The welghted average of the fair value of the aptions granted to employess during the year s 50084 per share (2013 - 51.15). The
portion of services provided to the Corporation was estimated to be 18% of the total services provided to the group (2013 - 13%),
representing stock-based compensation in the amaount of $782,285 for the year ended February 28, 2004 (2013 - $663,484).

Meptune aquity incentive plan:

In Jaruary 2013, the Board of Directars approved an equity incentive plan for employees, directors and consultants of the group
which was subject to the approval of the T5X and the sharebolders of Neptune. The plan was subsequently approved by the TS and
the shareholders’ approval was obtained on June 27, 2013, The plan provides for the issuance of restricted share units, performance
share units, restricted shares, deferred share units and other share-based awards, under restricted conditions as may be determined
by the Board of Directors. Upen fulfillment of the restricted conditions, as the case may be, the plan provides for settement of the
award through shares.

On June 27, 3013, Neptune granted to board members, executive officers, employees and consultants of the group a total of
1,191,000 Restrictive Share Units | “RSUS™) under the Neptune equity incentive plan. Neptune RSUS will vest gradually avertime with
an expiry date of na later than January 15, 2017, based an a specific rate, depending on each holder's category, But sixty peroent
|60654) of such swards will vest anly upon schisvernent of the performance objectives identified by Neptune. Perfarmancs objectives
are based in pare an Meptune’s specific and global goals, but alse on each halder’s individual perfarmance. The faif value of the RSUS
is determined to be the share price at date of grant and & recognized as stock-based compensation, through contributed surplus,
awer the vesting period. The fair value of the RSUs granted was $3.32 per unit.

The partion of services provided to the Corporation was estimated to be 30% of the total services provided to the group,
representing stock-based compensation in the amount of $832,261 for the year ended February 28, 2014,

Neptune-swned MeuroBioPharm Inc. warrants:

During the yesr ended Febsuary 28, 2014, Megtune granted rights over 210,000 NeuroBioPharm Ine. Series 2011-2 warrants to
gproup employess (2013 - B75,000). The rights granted am subject to continued service or having reachad four years of continued
service for directors. The fair value of the rights granted has been estimated according to the Black-Scholes option pricing model
based on the following weighted average assumptions:
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14. Share-based payments {continued]:

{c) Meptune stock-based compensation plan (continuedl

(i} Meptune-cwned NeurcBioPharm Ing. warrants [continued):

1]

2014 2013
Exercise price S0.78 4075
Share price 50,10 50010
Dividend yield = =
Risk-free interest rate 076 1.21%
Estimated life 2.38 pears 2.95 years
Expacted volatility G.71% 73,30%

The weighted average af the fair value of the rights granted to employees during the year ended February 28, 2014 i 50.01 per
share (2013 - 50,01). The portion of services those employees provide to the Conporation was estimated to be 50% of the total
sefvices they provide to the group (2013 - A93), representing Mtock-based compensation in the amount of 52,182 for the year
ended February 28, 2014 (2013 - $24,025).

Haeptune-cwned Acasti warrants:

During the years ended February 28, 2014 and 2013, no rights were granted over Meptune-owned Acastl warrants or shares to
group employees. The rights granted in the year ended February 29, 2012 had a welghted average exercise price of 51.42 per
share and are vesting gradually until February 10, 2005, subject w comtinued service or having reached four years of continued
service for directors.

The partion of services those employess provide to the Corporation was estimated to be 1005 of the total services they provide to
the group (2013 - BR%), representing stock-based compeniation in the amount of 51,471 for the year ended February 28, 2014
|2043 - $144,138).

Neptune-cwned NeurcBioPharm Inc. call-options:

During the year ended February 28, 2014, Neptune granted 1,925,000 call-pptions on NeuroBioPharm shares to group employmes
2013 = 2,500,000). The fair value of the call-options granted during the year has been estimated according to the Black-Scholes
option pricing model based on the weighted average of the following assumptions:

2014 2013
Exercite price 4100 4075
Share price 50,10 0010
Dividend yield - -
Risk-free interest rate 1.26% 1.12%
Estimated life 245 ywars 2,89 years
Expacted volatility TLIg% 1.71%

The weighted average of the fair value of the call-options granted to employees during the years ended February 28, 2014 and
2013 & negligible. The partion of services those employees provide 1o the Corporation was estimated to be 20% of the woal
siervices they provide ta thie group (3013 — 213%), representing stock-based compensation in the amount of $787 far the year ended
Febyruary 28, 2014 [2013 - $330).
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14. Share-based payments {continued]:
{c) Meptune stock-based compensation plan (continued):

[wi} Meptune-cened Acasti call-options:

During the year ended February 28, 2014, Neptune granted 1,975,000 call-options on Acasti shares 1o group employees (2013 -
2,345,000}, The fair value of the call-options granted during the year has been estimated according to the Blatk-Schakes aption
pricing model based an the weighted average of the fallowing assumptions:

2014 2013
Emireise price 4$3.00 4275
Share price 52,89 529
Dividend yield 2 o
Risk-free interest rate 1.26% 1.13%
Estimaved life 245 years 2,59 years
Expected volatility 6L63% B2.25%

Thie weighted average of the fair value of the call-options granted to employees during the year ended February 28, 2014 is $1.08
per share (2013 - §1.39), The portion of services those employees provide to the Corperation was estimated to be 36% of the total
services thay provide to the group (2013 — 26%), representing stack-based compensation in the amount of 562,407 for the year
ended February 28, 2014 (2013 - $107,150).

{d] MWeuroBsaPhanm Inc. Share Bonus plam:

I hay 2013, the Board of Directors approved an equity incentive plan for group employees, directors and consultants of NeuroBioPharm
Ine which was subject to the approwal of the Torante Stock Exchange and the shareholers of NeurcBioPharm. The plan was
subsequently approved by the Taranto Stack Exchange and the sharshalders” approval was obtained on June 27, 2013 The plan provides
far the Bsuance of share bonus awards, under restricted conditions as may be determined by the Board of Directors. Upan fulfillment of
the restricted conditions, as the case may be, the plan provides for settlement of the award through shares,

Qn June 27, 2013, NeuroBioPharm Inc. granted a total of 832,000 Share Bonus Awards under the NeuroBioPharm Share Bonus Plan
{*58As") to group employess. NeursBioPharm 58As will vest gradually avertime with an expiry date of no later than January 15, 2007,
based on a specific rate, depending on each holder's category, but skdty percent (50%) of such awards will vest enly upon achievement of
the performmance objectives identified by NeuroBioPharm. Performance objectives are based in part an the NeuroBioPharm's specific and
global gaals, but also on each holder's individual performance. The fakr value of the SBAs is determined to be the share price at date of
grant and is recognized as stock-based compensation, through contrbuted surplus, over the vesting period. The fair value of the SEas
granted was $0.10 per unit.

The partion of services provided to the Corporation was estimated to be 205 of the total services provided o the Aroup, repréesenting
stack-based compensation in the amaunt of 513,291 for the year endaed February 28, 2084,

15, Loss per share:

The calculation of basic koss per share at February 28, 2004 was based an the net loss attributable to holders of Class A shares of the
Corporation of 511,611,649 (2013 - $6,892,360) and & weighted average numbéer of comman shares outstanding of 84,368,933 (2013 —
72,754,436}

Diluted lods per shane wis the same amount a3 basic loss per share, a4 the effect af aptiond, RSUL and warrants would have been anti-
dilutive, because the Corporation incurred losses in each of the years prasented. Al outstanding options, RSUs and warrants could
pertentially b dilutive in the future.
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16, Incosme tanes:

Deferred tax expense:

2014 2013
Ovigination and reversal of temparary differences 5 1,932,370 % 1235573
Change in unrecognized deducible temparary differences (1,932,370} {1,235,673)
Deferred ta expense 5 - 5 -
Reconciliation of effecthee tax rate:
2014 2013
Lods bafare intame tied 4 (11,611,699 % 6,892,360
Income tax at the combined Canadian statutory rate 5 (3,123,534) 5 11,854,045)
Increase resulting from:
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 1,932,370 1,235,673
Ron-deductible stodk-baded compensation 925,823 515,732
Kon-deductible change in fair value 136,499 -
Permanent differences and ather 128 84T 102 540
Toital tan expenie s - ) -

Unrecognized deferred tax assats:

At February 28, 2004 and 2003, the deferred tax assets, which have not been recognized in these finandal statements because the criveria for
recognition of these assets were not met, were as follows:

2014 2013
Tax lasses carried forward s 3,295,000 S 2570000
Research and development expanses 2,156,000 1,145,000
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 240,000 186,000
Other deductible temparary differances 594,000 40,000
Unrecognized defierred tax assets 5 B, 325 000 & 3081000
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16. Income taes (continued]:

17.

As at February 28, 2014, the amounts and expiry dates of tax attributes and temporary differences, which are available to reduce future years”
taxable income, ware as follows:

Fadaral Provincial
Tax kasses cartied forward
2029 % 714,000 % T14,000
2030 1,627,000 1,621, 000
2031 2,071,000 2,063,000
2032 2,262,000 2,241,000
2033 1,854,000 1,825,000
2034 3,751,000 3,751,000

5 12,275,000 5 12215000

Research and development expenses, without time limitatien 5 7,550,000 5 8941000

QOther deductible temporary differences, without time limitation 5 3,095,000 5 3,089,000

Fimancial instruments:

This. note provides disclosures relating to the nature and extent of the Corporation’s exposure to risks arising from finandal instruments,
including credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk, and how the Corporation manages those risks,

[a) Credit risk:

Credit risk s the risk of a boss if a custemer or counterparty ©o a financial asset falls to meet its contractual obligations, and arises
primaridy from the Corporation’s trade receivabls. The Corporation may also have credit risk relating to cash and short-term
investments, which it manages by dealing only with highly-rated Canadian institutions. The carrying amount of finandal assets, as
disclesied in the statermaents of finandal powtion, represents thie Corparation”s cradit exposure at the reporting date. The Corparation’s
trade receivables and credit exposune Muctuate throughout the year. The Cofporation’s average trade receivables and credit exposure
during the year may ke higher than the balance at the and of that reparting yaar,

The Corporation’s credit risk for trade receivables is concentrated, as the majority of its sales are to one customer, As at February 28,
2014, the Corporation has eight trade debtors [seven in 20130 Most sales’ payment tarms are set in accordance with industry practice.
One customer represents 100% [one customer represented S7% as at Februany 28, 2013) of total trade accounts included in trade and
ather receivables as at February 28, 2004,

Mast of the Corparation's customers ane distributors fof a given tefritory and are privately-held enterprises. The profile and credit
quality of the Corporation’s retail customers vary significantly. Adverse changes in a oustomer’s financial pasition could cause the
Corporation to limit or discontinue conducting business with that customer, require the Corporation to assurme more credit risk relating
to that customer's future purchades or result in uncollectible sccounts receivable from that custamer. Such changes could have &
material adwarse affect on business, results of operations, finandal cond®tion and cash flows.

Custemers do not provide collateral in exchange for credit, except in unusual circumstances, Receivables from selected customaers are
coverad by credit insurance, with coverape amount usually of 1005 of the involcing, with the exception of same customerns under
specific terms, The informatien available through the insurers is the main element in the deckion process to determine the credit limits
assigned Lo customers,
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17,

ia]

(b}

Financial instruments [comtinued):

Credit risk [contined):

The Corparation’s extension of credit to customers inveles consklerable judgment and is based on an evaluation of each customer's
financial condition and payrment history. The Corparation has established various internal controls designed to mitigate credit risk,
including & credit analyiis by the inurer which recommends customers’ eredit limits and payment terms that are reviewed and
approved by the Corporation, The Corporation reviews pariadically the insurer's maximum credit quotation for each of its dlignts. New
clients are subject to the same process as regular dients. The Corporation has also established procedwres to obtain approval by senior
managament to release goods for shipment when customers have fulb-utilized approved insurers credit limits, From time to time, the
Corporation will temporarily transact with customers on a prepayment basis where circumstances warrant.

While the Corporation's credit contrals and processes have been effective in mitigating credit risk, these controbs cannot eliminate
credit risk and there can be no assurance that these controls will continue to be effective, or that the Corparation’s low credit loss
experience will cantinue.

The Carparation provides for trade receivable s thesir e d realizable value 35 so0n 4% the account i4 determined not to be
fully collectible, with such write-offs charged to earnings unless the lass has been pravided for in prior years, in which case the wiite-off
is appled to reduce the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Corporation updates its estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts,
based on evaluations of the callectability of trade receivable balances at each reporting date, taking into aceount amounts which ane
past due, and amy available infarmation indicating that a customer could be experiencing Bguidity or geing congem problems,

The aging of trade recevable balances and the allowance fer doubtful accounts as at February 28, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

2014 2013

Current 4 196,010 4 185
Past due 0-30 days - -
Past due 31120 days 24,006 174,860
Past due 121-180 days 177,682 2,945
Trade receivables 397,698 177,950
Less allowanee for doubtful accounts [2,570) (25700
] 395,128 & 175420

The allowance for daubtfil accounts is far customer acoounts over 121 days past due. There was no mavement in allswance for
dowbtful sccounts in respect of trade recelvables during the year ended February 28, 2014,

Currency risk:

Thie Carparation i exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates and the degrees of volatiliy of those
rates, Foreign currency risk is limited to the partion of thi Corparation's busingss trantactions denominated in currencies other than the
Canadian dollar. Fluc ions related to foreign euchange rates could cause unforeseen fluctuations in the Corposation’s oparating
risults.

Al of the Corparation”s revenwes are in US dollars. A portion of the expenses, mainky related to research contracts, is made in US dollars.
There is a financial risk involved related to the fluctuation in the value of the LIS dollar in relation to the Canadian dollar,
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17. Financial instruments {continued]:
&) Currency risk [continued);

fch

The following table provides an indication of the Corporation’s significant foreign exchange currency exposures as stated in Canadian
dallars at the following dates:

February 28, 7014 Febeuary 2B, 2013

LS5 ]

Cash 360691 534,933
Short-term investments 15,504,707 =
Trade and other receivables 397,743 177,950
Trade and other payables [260,218) [R1,849)
16,002,923 781,074

The following exchange rates are thosa applicable to the following penods and dates:

February 18, February 28,

2014 013

Average Reporting Average  Reporting

USS par CAD 1.0456 1.1074 1.0058 1.0314

Based on the Corporatien’s forelgn cumency exposures noted above, varying the above foreign exchange rates to reflect a 5%
strengthening of the LS dollar would have increased the net profit a5 follows, assuming that all other variables remained constant:

February 18, February 28,

2014 2013

0] ush

Inerease in nét profit BOD 146 39,054

An assumed 5% weakening of the forelgn currency would hawve had an equal but opposite effect an the basis that all other variables
remained constant.

Interast rate risk:

Imterest rate risk & the risk that the fair value or future cash Aews of a financial instrument will Mluctuate because of changes in markety
rates.

The Corparation’s exposure Lo interest rate risk as st February 28, 2014 and 2013 is a3 follows:

Cash Shart-term fixed interest rate
Short-term investments Short-tenm fixed intenest rate

The capacity of the Corparation to reinvest the short-term amounts with equivalent return will be impacted by variations in short-term
fimed interest rates available on the market
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17. Financial instruments {continued]:

(d) Lbquidity risk:

le]

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corparation manages
liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage, as cutlined in Note 20, It also manages liguidiy risk
by contanuously monitaring actual and projected cash fiows. The Board aof Directors reviews and approves the Corparation’s operating
budgets, and reviews the most impartant material ransactions outside the narmal course of business,

The following are the contractusl maturities of financial liabilities a3 at February 28 2004 and 2013:

February 28,

2014

Reguired payments per year Carrying Less than 1to Maae than

{in thousands of dallars) Total amount 1 yar S ybars S years
Trade and other payabla: 5 1,1M io11m & 1,17 L - ] -

The Dertvative warrant labilities are excluded from the above table as they will be settled inshares and not by the use of liquidities.

February 28,

2013

Reguired payments per yiear Carrying Liess than 1to Warne than
{in thousands of dollars) Total amount 1 year 5 ywars 5 years
Trade and other payables - 07 5 107 H 07 - 4 -
Payable to parent corporation 1L.x0 1,210 1210 - -
Royalties payable to parent corparation E20 523 £x - -
5 346 $ 2446 § 2446 8 = 5 =

Short-term investments

As at February 28, 2014, short-term investments consisting af werm deposits are with a Canadian financial institution having a high credit
rating. Shart-berm ireestments incdude four mvestments with maturity dates from May 8, 2014 to February 18, 2015, bearing an
interedt rate fram 0155 o 1.15% per annum, ciihable 5t a iy e &t the discretion of the Enrpa'atinn, undir certain canditions.

As at Februsry 28, 3013, short-term investrmaents are with a Canadian financial inst®ution hawing & high cradit rating. Short-term
investments have a maturity date of May &, 2013, a weighted average interest rate of 1.21% and are cashable at any time at the
discretion of the Corporation, under certaln conditiors.
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18.

19,

Cammitments:
License egreement:

The Corperation was initlally committed under a license agreement to pay Neptune until the expiration of Meptune's patents on koensed
intellectual property, a rovalty equal to the sum of (3} in relation to sales of products in the licensed figld, if any, the greater of: (i) 7.5% of net
sakes, and (i) 15% of the Corperation’s grass marging and (i) 208 of revenues from sub-lcenses granted by the Corparation to third partes, If
any. The Moense will expire on the date of expiration of the last-to-expire of the lcensed patent claims and/or continuation in part and/or
divisional of the licensed patent elaims After the last-to expire of the licensed patents on licensed imelectual property, which is currently
expected to accur in 2022, the license will automatically renew for an additional periad of 15 years, during which penad royalties were to be
equal to half of those caloulated according to the abave formula. In addition, the License Agreement provided for minimum royalty payments
notwithstanding the above of: year 1 - mil; yesr 2 - 550,000; yesr 3 - 5200,000; year 4 - 5225000 {initially 300,000, but reduced to 5225 000
fallowing Acasti's abandonmant of its rights to develop products far the over-the-counter market pursuant to the licensel; year 5 - $700,000;
and year & and t = 5750,000. Mini royalties are based on contract years based on the effective date of the License Agreement,
August 7, 2008,

On December 4, 2002, the Corparation announced that it entered inte a Prepayment Agreement with Neptune pursuant te which the
Corparation exercised its option under the License Agreement to pay in advance all of the future royalties' payable under the icense.

The prepayment and the issuance of the shares to Meptune were approved by the disinterested shareholders of the Corporation at the
annual meeting of shareholders of the Corporation hedd an June 27, 2013 and subsequently by the TS,

On July 12, 2013, the Carparation Bsued 6,750,000 Class & shares, at a price of $2.30 per share to Negtume.

The transaction was recorded upon the issuance of class A shares. The value of the prepayment, determined with the assistance of outside
waluations specialists, using the pre-sstablished farmula wet farth in the license agresmant (adjusted to reflect the royalties of 4395 DER
acorued from December 4, 2012, the date at which the Corporation entered into the prepayment agreement to July 12, 2013, the date of
msuance of the shares) totaling 515,129,932, was recognized as an intangible asset The shares ksued as a result of this transaction
corresponded to an Increase in share capital of $15,525.000, net of 529,000 of share issue costs. The Corporation no benger has rovalty
payment commitment under the License Agreement.

Research and development agreements:

In the normal course of business, the Corporation has signed agreements with various partners and suppliers for them to execu te research
projects and to produce and market certain products. The Corparation has reserved certain rights relating to these projeds.

The Corporation initiated research and development projects that will be condected over a 12 to 24 month period for a total cost of
55,171,000, of which an amaunt of 53,559,000 has been paid to date. As at February 28, 2024, an amount of $261,000 i included in "Trade
and other payables" in relaton to these prajects.

Determination of fair values:

Certain of the Corparation’s sccournting polices and discleasures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial
assats and llabilites. Fair values have been determined for measuremant andor disdasure purpeses based on the following methads.

Finansial and non-financial astets and labifiies:
In establishing fair value, the Corporation uses a fair value hisrarchy based on bvels as defined below:
+  Level 1: defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets.
*  Level 2: defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable.

*  Lavel 3; defined as inputs that are based on Ittle or no Etle observable market data, therefore requiring entities to develop their
oW assumptions.

The Corporation has determined that the carrying walues of its shart-term financial assets and Nabilities appraximate their fair value given the
shost-term nature of these instruments.,
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19. Determination of fair values {continued):
Derivative warrant lobilities:

The Corparation measwred its derivatiee warrant liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis. These financial liabilities were measured using
level 3 inputs. The inputs used in the determination of the fair values of the warrant liabiinies are disclosed in note 11(b)

The effect of an increase ar a decrease of 5% the valatility used, which i the significant unabservable input in the fair value estimate, would
result in a loss of 756,176 or a galn of 5786,423 respectively.

The recanciliation of changes in bevel 3 fair wvaloe mesturements of financial [abilities for the wear énded February 28, 2014 is prewented in the

fallowing table:
2014
Balance - beginning of year 5 -
Recognition of derivative warrant labdbties
10,674,005

Change in fair waluwe of derivative warrant liabilities

507,430
Chosing balance 5 1L181475

Shore-based payment transactions:

The fair value of share-based payment transaction |s measured based on the Black-5cheles valuation model.  Measurement inputs indude
share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected valatility (based on welghted average historic volatility
adjusted for changes expected due to publicly avallable information, when the shares have not been traded on a recognized exchange for a
period of time that is commensurate with estimated life of option, it is estimated using historical volatility of comparable corporations),
weighted average expected [ife of the instruments [based an histarical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends,
and the risk-free interest rate [based on government bands). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions,
if any, are nat taken into account in determining Fair value,

0. Capital management:

Since incaption, the Corpoaration’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to finance its research and dewelopment
activities, general and administrative expenses, expenses assaciated with intellectual preperty protection and its overall capital expenditures,
The Corporation is not exposed to external requirements by regulatory agencies or third parties regarding its capital,

Since the beginning of its operations, the Corparation has financed its bauidity needs from funding provided by a public offering, & private
placement, (ks parent corporation, from the exercise of warrants that were distributed ta its parent corparation’s sharehalders, from a rights
offering and from the sspance of options to employees. The Corporation attempts to optimize it liquidity needs with non-dilutive sources
whenever pessible, including from research and deselopment tax credits.

The Corporation defines capital to include total shareholders” equity and derhvative warrant abilities.
The Corporation’s palicy is to maintain a minimal level of debt.

A5 of February 28, 2014, cash amounted to $675,490, shart-term investments amounted to $23,025,951 and tax credits receivable amounted
to 5134,120, for a total of 523,835,561, During the year ended February 28, 2024, the Corporation obtained net proceeds of $972,177 from
the exercise of previously issued warrants and options, 52,067,605 from the peivate placement and 521,953,200 from the public offering net
of Bsue ensts,
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Iz,

Operating segments:

The Corporation has one reportable operating segment: the develapment and commarcialization of pharmaceutical applications of it
licensed rights for cardiovascular diseases.

The majority of the Corporation's assets are located in Canada,

The Conporatian’s salkes are attributed based on the customer’s area of residence, AN of the sales during the vear ended February 28, 2014
wete made to the United States. Al of the sales during the year ended February 28 2013, except for the sale made to Neptune in the
amount of 511,000, were made to the United States,

During the year ended February 28, 2014, the Corparation realized sales amounting to $473,180 from ane customer accaunting for 945 aof
siles

During the year ended February 28, 2013, the Corporation realized sales amounting to $640,575 from one customer accounting for 89% of
siles

Subsequent event:

On April 28, 2014, Acast announced the resignation af Br. Henrl Harand as President and Chief Executive Officer of Acastl, Discusshons are
ongaing at the Board of Directors of the Corporation related to the settement af his employment contract. As of the date of the financial
atatements no agresment has been reached and an estimate of it financial effect cannot be made.
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